Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2019

The Effects Of The Meisner Technique On Interpersonal Relationships: A Pilot Study

Rachel Magin Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Magin, Rachel, "The Effects Of The Meisner Technique On Interpersonal Relationships: A Pilot Study" (2019). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1752. https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1752

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

The Effects of the Meisner Technique on Interpersonal Relationships: A Pilot Study

A Dissertation

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Department of Psychology

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Clinical Psychology

by

Rachel Magin

December 2018

© Rachel A. Magin 2018

Keywords: The Meisner Technique, Interpersonal Relationships, Relationship Satisfaction,

Closeness, Mindfulness

ProQuest Number: 10975473

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10975473

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: Virgil Sheets, Ph.D.

Professor of Psychology

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Liz O'Laughlin, Ph.D.

Professor of Psychology

Indiana State University

Committee Member: Kevin Jordan, Ph.D.

Professor of Psychology

Indiana State University

ABSTRACT

The present study examined the usefulness of the Meisner Technique (a technique used in theatre to improve actors' performances) in increasing relationship satisfaction and closeness in friendships and romantic relationships. It was hypothesized that the Meisner Technique would increase relationship satisfaction and closeness through increases in mindfulness, self-expansion, I-sharing, and empathy. The present study builds upon previous research on relationship building activities, while also investigating a previously unstudied technique. Fifty-five undergraduate students along with a partner (of their choosing) were randomly assigned to participate for two 20-minute sessions, two days apart, of the Meisner Technique (the experimental condition) or a word game (the control condition). Dyads consisted of both platonic friends and romantic partners. Prior to the first session and following the second session, participants completed various measures to assess their closeness, relationship satisfaction, mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy and I-sharing. Results revealed no significant effect of the Meisner Technique on relationship satisfaction, closeness, or any of the hypothesized mediators. There were several limitations of the study that might have affected the results, including the brevity and intensity of the intervention, as well as the composition of the participants. Although the Meisner Technique did not prove to be effective for enhancing relationships in this study, considerable research suggests that interventions that enhance mindfulness, empathy, I-sharing, and self-expansion will bring couples closer and increase relationship satisfaction. Given anecdotal support suggesting that a Meisner-based treatment will impact empathy, I-sharing, and self-expansion, further

research is warranted to explore the impact of a Meisner-based treatment on improving closeness and relationship satisfaction.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I want to thank my dissertation chair Dr. Virgil Sheets for your direction, enthusiasm, and patience throughout this process. I never would have been able to start or complete this ambitious project without your willingness and support. I would also like to thank the other members of my dissertation committee, including Dr. Kevin Jordan and Dr. Liz O'Laughlin for all the time and effort you have put into helping me complete this project. I cannot imagine a more supportive committee. It has been an honor to learn from each of you.

Next, I need to thank my incredible and inspirational family. Mom, you are the strongest woman I know. Throughout my life you have taught me to always believe in myself, and to never give up. Watching you has inspired me to always be kind, hardworking, and determined. Thank you for all you have done for our family. Dad, you inspired me to become the next "Dr. Magin." There are no words to express how grateful I am for your support throughout my life. Knowing that you and mom are always there to protect us is what allows Zach, Dan and me to take risks and "fly." Zach and Dan, thank you for being the most incredible brothers and best friends. I knew I was lucky when you both were born, but I had no idea just how lucky I actually was.

Finally, a special thanks to all my friends, especially my Terre Haute "pineapple" family: my cohort. Erin, Emily, Yelena, Melvin, Ande, and Gabby, I cannot imagine going on this journey without the six of you. I am so grateful for your support, our talks and our adventures over the past four years.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ii
ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESx
INTRODUCTION1
Background of the Study1
Purpose of Study4
Significance of Study4
LITERATURE REVIEW
The Meisner Technique6
Mindfulness10
Self-expansion Theory17
Empathy19
I-Sharing23
Relationship Satisfaction and Closeness25
Summary
The Present Study
METHODS
Design

Participants	
Materials	
The Meisner Technique Script	
The Meisner Technique Demonstration Video	
Cover Sheet	
Measures	
Demographic Questionnaire	
Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS)	
Interpersonal Reactivity Index for Couples (IRIC)	
The Self-Expansion Scale	
The Existential Isolation Scale (EIS)	
The Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale (URCS)	
The Relationship Assessment Scale (RAS)	
Manipulation Check	
Measure of General Relationship Satisfaction	
Ten-item Personality Inventory	
Procedures	
RESULTS	
Manipulation Check	42
Dependent Variables	44
Mediators	46
Additional Analyses	48
DISCUSSION	

Significance	55
Limitations	58
Future Research	59
Conclusions	61
FOOTNOTES	62
REFERENCES	63
APPENDIX A: THE MEISNER TECHNIQUE SCRIPT	72
APPENDIX B: COVER SHEET	74
APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHIC	75
APPENDIX D: MINDFUL ATTENTION AWARENESS SCALE	77
APPENDIX E: INTERPERSONAL REACTIVITY INDEX	79
APPENDIX F: THE SELF-EXPANSION SCALE	81
APPENDIX G: EXISTENTIAL ISOLATION SCALE	83
APPENDIX H: THE UNIDIMENSIONAL RELATIONSHIP CLOSENESS SCALE	84
APPENDIX I: RELATIONSHIP ASSESSMENT SCALE	85
APPENDIX J: MANIPULATION CHECK	86
APPENDIX K: MEASURE OF GENERAL RELATIONSHIP SATISFACTION	87
APPENDIX L: TEN-ITEM PERSONALITY INVENTORY	88
APPENDIX M: INFORMED CONSENT	89
APPENDIX N: DEBRIEFING FORM	92

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Temporal Sequencing of the Measures	
Table 2. Intraclass Correlation Coefficients Between Partners	
Table 3. Group Means for Time 1	41
Table 4. Group Means for Time 2	41
Table 5. Group Means for Time 3	42
Table 6. Control and Experimental Differences on Manipulation Check Items	43
Table 7. Experimental Differences at Each Time Point	44
Table 8.Control Differences at Each Time Point	44
Table 9. Means of the Mediators in the Control and Experimental Groups	48
Table 10. Correlations Between Post-Session Mediators and Post-Session Outcome Va	riables48

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Background of Study

A group of actors were collaboratively creating a physical theatre piece. This process was much more challenging than they anticipated and they were constantly arguing. One of the actors had learned a theatre technique called the Meisner Technique that was created to help actors listen and react to each other (Meisner, Longwell & Pollack, 1987). She suggested that they try it, and for several rehearsals that was their focus. It was like magic: they began to listen to each other, work together, and create. Instead of each actor working individually, they became like a machine, each piece in synchrony with the others. They practiced this technique and they were better able to work collaboratively and effectively. In addition, they became closer, more satisfied, and had greater empathy for one another. They attributed not only their improved performance, but also improved relationships with one another to this experience.

Successful interpersonal relationships are vital to satisfaction and happiness in life. They affect our work, our leisure, and our physical and mental well-being. They provide comfort, support, and protection. Too often people take relationships for granted and let them take their course, letting break-ups occur with romantic partners as well as friends (Jackson-Dwyer, 2014). The psychological effects of interpersonal involvement and the detrimental effects of isolation have led to a great deal of research focusing on how to improve or save failing interpersonal

relationships. This is the focus of most couples therapy, as well as therapy involving parents and children (Jackson-Dwyer, 2014). Research on maintaining or improving relationships before they begin to fail is less common, but of potential importance (Wenzel & Harvey, 2001). Preventing problems from occurring may decrease the number of individuals and couples in treatment, which allows more resources to be directed toward those who need more help and may increase the quality of relationships for those who would not seek care.

Marriage counselors, therapists and others have often attempted to promote maintenance of relationships through activities or skills trainings to improve key areas that often arise as sources of problems, including economics, coping with stress, etc.—though interpersonal communication and empathy are common targets. These trainings and activities frequently involve psychoeducation, games and role-play, didactic training, and skills training, which research suggests are successful in improving empathy and satisfaction between partners (Teding van Berkhout & Malouff, 2016). The Meisner Technique is a theatre technique that is used to help actors improve their performance by teaching them to attend to their partners' present experience. It involves commenting on a partner's physical and emotional experience and repeating that comment back and forth until one partner notices a change. One partner then comments on that change and the new comment is then repeated. It is meant to teach actors to focus on the other individual rather than him or herself, focus on what is happening in the present moment, and act in a genuine manner (Meisner et al., 1987). It is proposed that the Meisner Technique could be used to improve interpersonal relationships in similar ways that it has influenced actors.

The Meisner Technique seems to exemplify "mindfulness" training. Mindfulness is a state of increased awareness and attention to living in the present moment, meaning paying

attention to what is happening in the present rather than thinking about the past or the future, without judgment or evaluation (Kozlowski, 2013). The Meisner Technique involves many of the 6 steps that Kramer (2007) argued are necessary for mindful dialogue: open, trust emergence, listen deeply, and speak the truth. These elements of mindful dialogue are key aspects of the Meisner Technique that are believed to be vital in increasing communication and empathy. Research has suggested that mindfulness in relationships contributes to overall positive functioning and improves relationship satisfaction (Carson, Carson, Gil & Baucom, 2004), and it is thus hypothesized that the Meisner activity could similarly improve partners' interactions and satisfaction as an exercise in mindfulness.

Although the Meisner Technique seems to exemplify mindfulness, it must be noted that it may impact relationships in other ways as well. It may benefit relationships through increasing expression of self-expansion, facilitating empathy and promoting I-sharing. Self-expansion theory states that love arises from a desire to expand the self by including the other in the self, as well as by associating expansion with that particular other. This suggests that the closer the relationship, the more likely elements of cognitive structures of the other and the self will overlap (Aron & Aron, 1996). Empathy is defined as the ability to understand and share the experiences of another person emotionally and cognitively (Péloquin & Lafontaine, 2010), and has been shown to be beneficial in satisfaction of intimate relationships. In addition, many types of couple's therapies directly or indirectly address increasing empathy. I-sharing is the degree to which an individual believes that he or she shares an identical subjective experience as another individual. Research has shown that I-sharing contributes to liking and feelings of connection beyond similarities (Pinel, Long, Landau, Alexander, & Pyszczynski, 2006). I-sharing makes us feel existentially connected which then combats feelings of existential isolation (Pinel, Long,

Landau & Pzszczynski, 2004). The Meisner Technique could impact relationship satisfaction and closeness through each of these unique processes, which will also be examined in the current study.

Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study was to examine whether the Meisner Technique could improve relationship satisfaction and closeness between friends and romantic partners. There are several ways that the Meisner Technique may have increased relationship satisfaction and closeness. It has a focus on living in the present moment and being aware of the here-and-now, which may have increased mindfulness. In addition, it involves increasing awareness about a partner's experience as well as undergoing a novel activity, which may have increased self-expansion. It involves recognizing another's emotional experience and receiving feedback about that observation, which may have positively affected empathy. Finally, it involves having a shared experience and seeing that experience through a partner's eyes, which might have increased Isharing. Mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing are all related to relationship satisfaction and closeness. Therefore, it was proposed that through these processes, the activity would increase participant reports of closeness and relationship satisfaction.

Significance of Study

Relationships are a vital aspect of our everyday life. Healthy relationships are important in terms of mental health and quality of life. Many mental disorders are defined by interpersonal deficits and improvements in interpersonal functioning have been found to improve mental health. In addition, interpersonal difficulties are among the most common reasons individuals seek therapy (Horowitz, Rosenberg & Bartholomew, 1993). The Meisner Technique is an easy to use, inexpensive, simple technique that could benefit relationship satisfaction and closeness. Not

only could it benefit troubled relationships, it may also help to prevent problems from developing. This could occur through multiple ways including increasing mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing.

The present study is significant because if the Meisner Technique was found to be beneficial for friendships and romantic relationships it could be incorporated into therapy with couples, parents and adolescents, and friends. This would be a simple and inexpensive technique to use in therapy. In addition, it could also be used to improve an individual's interpersonal functioning in general. Although it was hypothesized to be most beneficial to a specific relationship, the benefits may extend to each individual. The Meisner Technique could become a way to maintain relationships that are not in distress, as well as improve relationships that are. This study investigated these potential effects.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

The Meisner Technique

"The biggest communication problem is we do not listen to understand. We listen to reply." Unknown

Sanford Meisner created a theatre technique called "The Meisner Technique" designed to increase actors' abilities to live truthfully in the moment while performing. It consists of multiple stages that become increasingly more difficult. This study investigates the use of the first stage, repetition, in improving interpersonal relationships in the context of everyday life and potentially in therapy. While the later stages of the Meisner Technique are specifically focused on acting, the first stage could be generalized to other groups of people and situations. This stage involves two steps. In the first step, two partners sit across from each other and one person comments on something that they notice about the other person. Examples of observations are, "you are crossing your leg" or "you are shaking your foot." The other partner repeats back "I am crossing my leg" or "I am shaking my foot." The comment is repeated until one individual notices a change in their partner's behavior, comments on it and states the new observation. In the second step, partners begin to notice the other partner's emotional experience. For example they might say, "you are mad" or "you are confused." They once again continue to repeat this until one of the partners notices a change in the other partner, comments on it and the pattern continues (Meisner et al., 1987).

The Meisner Technique has been studied by award winning actors and actresses including Grace Kelly, Diane Keaton, Amy Schumer, Kathy Bates, and Peter Gallagher. One challenge actors often have is focusing on the present moment. As Diane Keaton once said "The main thing that Sanford Meisner gave me – not really just for acting but life – is just be in the moment" (King, 2014). In addition, the Meisner Technique encourages truthfulness and communication. Gregory Peck stated, "What he wanted from you was truthful acting...He was able to communicate, and the proof of that is the number of people that have come out of [the Neighborhood Playhouse] over a forty-year period who've gone on to become people who set standards of acting" ("About Sanford Meisner," 2001). Sanford Meisner and his technique are extraordinarily influential on the world of theatre and on individual actors. Based on the impact this technique has made in the world of theatre, one might wonder if it has the capability of impacting lives of non-actors as well as actors.

The Meisner Technique has not only been praised by actors, but psychologists have also considered the benefits it may have in terms of the therapeutic relationship. Kindler and Gray (2010) used three case examples to demonstrate how the Meisner Technique may inform psychoanalytic therapy. They argued that the improvisation involved in the Meisner Technique involves moment-to-moment engagement that is similar to the interaction between analyst and patient. In order for this interaction to be authentic and therapeutic, the therapist and patient must improvise rather than rely on a "script." They posit that understanding the Meisner Technique can help an analyst create that dynamic in the session.

Although psychological benefits of the Meisner Technique have not been explicitly researched, other theatre techniques have previously been used in therapy. Psychodrama refers to the use of theatre techniques and role-playing in the therapy setting. Kipper and Ritchie (2003) conducted a meta-analysis of 25 studies that investigated the effectiveness of psychodrama. They found a strong average effect size of .95, which is higher than the average effect sizes for group psychotherapy in general (.50-.70). They note that the high effect size might partly be due to the halo effect that is frequently associated with psychodramatic interventions. However, in general, the effect size is similar to effect sizes of other group interventions, suggesting that psychodramatic techniques are empirically valid for use in psychotherapy. The two most commonly used psychodrama techniques are role reversal and doubling. Role reversal is when the patient portrays the role of someone else (either at the session or absent) and the patient is represented by the therapist or another individual in the session. The patient originally portrays himself and afterward switches to another role. Doubling is when both the patient and the therapist portray the patient, and the therapist makes statements that the patient may be withholding. The meta-analysis found that role reversal encouraged disinhibition, and led to greater attitude change, warmth, and trust in the patient, while doubling increased empathy. These results suggest that the use of psychodrama in therapy leads to positive changes. Although other studies have found mixed support in regard to the effectiveness of psychodrama, there is basis for more exploration.

The Meisner Technique in particular has features that are comparable with existing therapeutic techniques. For instance, it is similar to a therapy technique created by Hendrix and Hunt called "Imago Dialogue" (Hendrix, Hunt, Luquet, & Carlson, 2015). Imago therapy teaches couples a type of dialogue that helps them to listen to each other empathically and to

better understand their own, as well as their partner's needs. This dialogue is different than everyday conversation because it encourages partners to put aside their desire to control and change the other person and, instead, listen to and understand them. The first stage of this dialogue involves being present and maintaining our awareness and connection of the other person (i.e., mindfulness). Eye contact is vital to this interaction and both partners are asked to look each other in the eye. The partners also learn how to calm themselves and use emotional regulation techniques to feel centered. Both of these aspects of Imago therapy are central to the Meisner Technique. Another similarity between the techniques is that they both involve mirroring. Although in the Imago technique partners are asked to say, "If I heard you correctly, you said..." or "If I understand what you are saying,..." and partners in the Meisner Technique comment on what they notice, rather than what their partner said, both techniques involve noticing what the other person is experiencing and commenting on it. Imago therapy also involves validation. This is when couples say validating statements such as, "What you are saying and feelings makes sense to me. I understand you." The Meisner Technique also involves validation; when an individual comments on their partner's emotions, they are showing that they recognize and understand their experience. In addition, both Imago therapy and the Meisner Technique should improve empathy with each partner feeling and understanding the other partner's emotional experience (Hendrix et al., 2015). Imago Dialogue has been used with couples for decades. The Meisner Technique has many of the core components of Imago therapy and therefore, should be similarly beneficial.

The Meisner Technique is designed to help actors focus on their partner instead of on themselves, live in the moment, and act truthfully under imagined circumstances (Meisner et al., 1987). It has also been considered beneficial to interpersonal relationships outside of the world

of theater, i.e., the therapeutic relationship (Kindler & Grey, 2010). This technique could therefore also be useful for couples, parents and adolescents, or friends. It is proposed that the Meisner Technique will increase relationship satisfaction and closeness. This technique is similar to other mindfulness techniques, which have been found to be beneficial in relationships. There are several additional mediators that may be contributing to these changes, including increases in self-expansion, increases in empathy, and experiences of I-sharing (the experience of sharing a similar reaction to a stimuli as another person). Multiple ways this activity may be beneficial in improving interpersonal relationships will be explored.

Although the effects of the Meisner Technique on relationships have not been studied, there are many reasons to suspect that it could have a positive impact. The technique involves observing and commenting on the present moment, rather than focusing on the past or a future goal, which is a core component of mindfulness. It involves increasing awareness about a partner's experience as well as undergoing a novel activity, which may increase self-expansion. In addition, it involves recognizing another's emotional experience and receiving feedback about that observation, which may positively affect empathy. Finally, it involves having a shared experience as a partner, which might increase I-sharing. Mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing have all been found to be related to relationship satisfaction and closeness. Therefore, it is proposed that both closeness and relationship satisfaction will increase as a result of participating in the Meisner Technique. The first mechanism of change that will be investigated further is mindfulness.

Mindfulness

Mindfulness is a state of increased awareness and attention to what is occurring in the present moment without judgment or evaluation (Kozlowski, 2013). It has been found to

promote psychological health and decrease psychological symptoms, as well as more specifically improve interpersonal relationships. It is posited that the Meisner Technique could increase a partner's ability to stay in the moment and focus on the here-and-now, rather than the past or the future. It involves noticing and commenting on a partner's experience in the present moment, which is an essential aspect of mindfulness. Nanda (2013) stated that mindfulness allows transformation and healing. It encourages acceptance, compassion, patience, and non-judgment. In addition, it brings interconnectedness to awareness and allows for relational change. Kramer (2007) created a framework (known as insight dialogue) for incorporating mindfulness into relationships with six steps: pause, relax, open, trust emergence, listen deeply, and speak the truth. As described below, the Meisner Technique incorporates four of these six steps.

The step of being "open" that Kramer (2007) described is when we focus on the external world rather than internally. We allow our awareness to extend beyond our own body and experience. This is a large component of the Meisner Technique. When individuals participate in the Meisner activity they are meant to focus on their partner rather than themself. They are not meant to withdraw from uncomfortable emotions, but instead experience them and note them in the other individual. "Trust emergence" is the fourth step in Kramer's insight dialogue. It consists of allowing the present moment to happen and trusting the change that inevitably occurs. Instead of focusing on what one is going to say or trying to gain a specific outcome from a conversation, it involves being present, and being okay with not knowing what is going to happen. This is the main purpose of the Meisner activity: to help us authentically experience what is happening in the present, and genuinely express that experience to another. According to Kramer, "listen deeply" consists of listening to our partner deeply and openly. The individual should be generous, empathetic and seek to understand the others' experience. This requires all

of the senses rather than solely relying on words. The Meisner activity encourages individuals to listen to the other person through ways other than words. Participants are meant to observe their experience through their partner's expressions and behaviors and comment on it. They then receive feedback on their perceptions. Essentially, this is an activity in active listening. The final step in Kramer's Insight Dialogue is to "speak the truth". This step involves awareness that the truth changes and evolves as the moment changes. When doing the Meisner Technique, participants are asked to say what they notice without censoring. When a change occurs, they are asked to note that. If nothing changes they are meant to repeat. It is an honest and open way to communicate. Kramer (2007) describes how insight dialogue has been found to help relationships become more mindful, calm and accepting. They become more genuine and intimate. Based on this framework, the Meisner Technique would be an ideal way to change dialogue and create more mindful interactions.

Recently, research has investigated the effects of mindfulness in promoting better quality romantic relationships. Kozlowski (2013) discussed how mindfulness promotes acceptance and decreases avoidance of challenging emotions. This may increase healthy modes of responding to others, therefore increasing the maintenance of healthy relationships. She also discussed how meditations meant to increase mindfulness have been found to increase empathy. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), which involves multiple mindfulness components, has been shown to increase personal acceptance, which Kozlowski argues then generalizes to accept and empathize with other people's experiences. Other research has investigated the role of mindfulness in romantic relationship satisfaction and in couples' reactions to relationship stress (Barnes, Brown, Krusemark, Cambell & Rogge, 2007). The researchers found that individual trait mindfulness predicted greater satisfaction and better ability to respond constructively to

stressors in the relationship. They also found that trait mindfulness was related to lower emotional stress responses and positive change in perceptions of the relationship after a conflict. In addition, state mindfulness predicted better communication quality during an argument. These results suggest that mindfulness plays a role in relationship satisfaction in general, as well as during romantic conflicts (Barnes et al., 2007).

Research suggests that improved communication is one mechanism behind the relationship between mindfulness and improved romantic relationships. Wachs and Cordova (2007) conducted a study with a sample of married couples that investigated the relationship between attending to the present moment, enacting emotions, and quality of the romantic relationship. They measured mindful awareness, emotion skills and marital quality. They found that both emotion skills and mindfulness were related to marital adjustment and suggest that attentiveness to the current moment helps partners improve their intimacy by improving their moment-to-moment interactions. In addition, the researchers found that the ability to identify and communicate emotions, as well as regulate anger, mediated the association between mindfulness and marital quality. Couples who have greater individual mindfulness are better able to control their angry impulses and therefore, decrease aggressive behaviors. They are also better able to communicate those negative emotions in an effective manner. Another study that also focused on communication found that mindfulness can be used to increase communication. Dekeyser, Raes, Leijssen, Leysen, and Dewulf (2008) found that individuals who had greater ability to use mindful observation also engaged more empathically. In addition, acting with awareness, mindful description, and nonjudgmental acceptance were associated with better ability to identify and describe feelings, greater body satisfaction, less social anxiety and less distress contagion. The results of both of these studies suggest that improving mindfulness has the potential to

increase communication and regulate anger, contributing to greater interpersonal relationship quality.

Burgoon, Berger, and Waldron (2000) also discussed the relationship between mindfulness and interpersonal communication, focusing on nonverbal communication. They noted that when individuals communicate, they use nonverbal as well as verbal communication methods. Nonverbal communication includes gestures, body movements, environmental cues and facial expressions. They defined mindfulness as sensitivity to context and multiple perspectives, the ability to draw novel distinctions, and active and fluid information processing. They further noted that mindfulness increases an individual's ability to read nonverbal cues. They argued that increased mindfulness before and during communication can be very beneficial and lead to more successful communication.

Mindfulness interventions with couples have been the focus of several recent studies. Some have specifically looked at the effects of mindfulness on the brain and physiology, and relations of these biological processes to interpersonal relationships. Atkinson (2013), for instance, reviewed the neural and behavioral changes that occur with mindfulness training. He reported that 17 studies have found that mindfulness meditations lead to structural brain changes. These changes in the brain are important in regulating interpersonal behavior and therefore, impact relationships. Laurent, Hertz, Nelson, and Laurent (2016) measured differences in cortisol levels in romantic partners during a conflict discussion task. They found that partners who had higher mindfulness during the conflict had quicker cortisol recovery when their partners demonstrated negative behaviors. In addition, a partner's mindfulness was related to greater emotional regulation strategies and empathy in the relationship. These two studies demonstrate

that mindfulness has physiological effects on individuals, as well as a potential positive effect on relationships.

Other mindfulness intervention studies for couples have primarily focused on psychological and social changes. Carson, Carson, Gil, and Baucom (2004) studied a mindfulness-based relationship enhancement intervention with non-distressed couples. This intervention used loving-kindness meditations, with a focus on one's partner, partner yoga, mindful touch exercises, application of mindfulness to emotion-focused and problem-focused approaches to relationship difficulties, and encouraging mindfulness in-session and at home. The intervention increased couples' levels of satisfaction in the relationship, relatedness, closeness, autonomy, and acceptance, and it decreased their relationship distress. In addition, it impacted the individuals' optimism, relaxation, spirituality, and psychological distress. These results were maintained at the 3-month follow up. Gambrel and Piercy (2015) investigated a 4-week mindful transition to parenthood program with couples expecting their first child. They found positive gains for each individual, improvement in the couple's relationship, more preparedness for the baby and increased male involvement in pregnancy, birth, and parenting. These are important results because they studied non-distressed couples. This suggests that mindfulness may be beneficial for a wide range of relationships, rather than solely distressed ones.

Research suggests that there is a relationship between mindfulness approaches and the cultivation of empathy. Block-Lerner, Adair, Plumb, Rhatigan, and Orsillo (2007) described several studies that have investigated this relationship. Correlational research has shown a relationship between mindfulness, perspective-taking, and empathic concern. In addition, an 8-week mindfulness-based program for premedical and medical students was found to increase levels of empathy (Shapiro, Schwartz, & Bonner, 1998). In another study, individuals

participated in a mindful awareness condition or a positive thinking condition (Block-Lerner, Orsillo, & Plumb, 2004). They were then asked to watch an emotional film clip and write their reactions to it. Individuals in the mindful awareness condition appeared to be better able to take others' perspectives compared to individuals in the positive thinking condition. This suggests that mindfulness may increase empathy (Block-Lerner et al., 2004). Block-Lerner et al. (2007) posit that mindfulness interventions with couples and families may have the ability to increase empathy; however, more research in this area needs to be conducted. Van Doesum, Van Lange, and Van Lange (2013) investigated social mindfulness, defined as paying attention to the needs of others in a way that respects their autonomy. They found that social mindfulness was positively associated with prosocial value orientation, empathy and the personality factors of honesty-humility and agreeableness. In addition, individuals who were perceived as socially mindful tended to be trusted and liked more so than individuals who were perceived as unmindful. These results suggest that social mindfulness and empathy have a positive relationship and that social mindfulness can influence trust and liking.

The Meisner Technique is very similar to many mindfulness techniques. It focuses on the present moment and asks participants to make observations about what is happening in the hereand-now. In addition, it encourages participants to focus on what they are noticing and verbally express those observations to their partner. This is very different than most of the interpersonal interactions we have in everyday life where almost all communication is goal-directed (Burgoon et al., 2000). Two examples of goal directed communication are creating a business relationship or trying to persuade an adolescent not to smoke. During goal-directed communication such as this, smaller goals (creating a business relationship or trying to persuade an adolescent not to smoke) are guided by larger superordinate goals, such as being successful or raising healthy children. These goals act as guides or scripts when we interact with others. Rather than being in the moment and focusing on the present, our conversations are to some extent driven by these superordinate goals. As a result, we may miss important features of our partners in the immediate context (Burgoon et al., 2000). The Meisner Technique breaks this habit of goal-directed conversation and instead the interaction is fully motivated by observing the other person and living in the present moment. Neither the past nor the future matters during this interaction. In addition, each partner then has the opportunity to correct the other if the moment changes or he or she disagrees. In this way, they receive in the moment feedback on their experience with their partner in the here-and-now. Based on previous research on mindfulness activities and interpersonal relationships, the Meisner Technique would likely benefit interpersonal relationships.

Self-Expansion Theory

Another mechanism of change in the Meisner Technique could be self-expansion. Selfexpansion theory (Aron & Aron, 1996) states that people have a basic motive to expand the sense of self, increasing the breadth and depth of the self-concept by incorporating others' resources, perspectives, and characteristics as one's own. Multiple sources of research confirm a cognitive integration of close others into the self (Aron, Aron, Tudor & Nelson, 1991; Aron & Aron, 1996), and according to self-expansion theory, passion for another arises from the process of expanding the self through interactions with the other, and people who experience selfexpansion in their relationship report both positive affect toward their partner (Sheets, 2014) and greater satisfaction with their relationships (Reissman, Aron, & Bergen, 1993).

While self-expansion is believed to be a naturally occurring process when one forms a new relationship with another (Aron, Paris, & Aron, 1995), established couples may experience

decreased self-expansion opportunities as their intimate knowledge of the other reaches an asymptote (Aron & Aron, 1986). However, another way that people may experience expansion is through engaging in novel and exciting experiences; when done as a couple, those experiences are associated with the partner and seem to trigger increased positive affect toward them. Aron, Norman, Aron, McKenna, and Heyman (2000) found greater relationship satisfaction in couples who participated in a 7-minute novel and arousing activity together compared to couples who participated in a mundane task and that this effect was partially mediated by reduced feelings of boredom with the relationship. Reissman et al., (1993) randomly assigned 53 married couples to participate in activities together for $1\frac{1}{2}$ hours a week for 10 weeks and measured relationship satisfaction pre- and post- intervention. Those assigned to engage in novel and exciting tasks experienced increased relationship satisfaction compared to couples engaged in other pleasant activities or a control group. While this increased satisfaction might reflect the positive affect experienced, research suggests that the increased cognitive overlap with the other is associated with increased commitment to the relationship as well as behaviors that sustain it (Mattingly & Lewandowski, 2014). The Meisner Technique, which is both a novel and potentially stimulating activity, may thus create an opportunity for self-expansion that generates positive affect and supportive relational behaviors, increasing partners' satisfaction with each other.

As noted above, the Meisner Technique is hypothesized to generate mindfulness, and the relationship between mindfulness, self-expansion and relationship satisfaction has also been studied. One study investigated the mediators of the effects of a mindfulness intervention on improvements in couples' relationships. In this study, couples participated in a mindfulness-based relationship enhancement program that included novel activities such as partner yoga posture exercises, mindful touch exercises, and a dyadic eye-gazing exercise. They found that

partners' participation in self-expanding activities had a significant positive effect on relationship satisfaction, suggesting that part of the reason mindfulness improves relationships is through self-expansion (Carson et al., 2007). Thus, the Meisner Technique may impact self-expansion both directly and also indirectly (through increasing mindfulness), further contributing to feelings of closeness to and satisfaction with the partner.

Empathy

Another aspect of relationship satisfaction and closeness that may increase through the Meisner Technique is empathy. Empathy is defined as the ability to understand and share the experiences of another person emotionally and cognitively (Péloquin & Lafontaine, 2010). It is an important aspect of successful interpersonal functioning and vital in terms of satisfaction of intimate relationships (Péloquin & Lafontaine, 2010). In addition, many types of couple's therapy directly or indirectly address increasing empathy (Perrone-McGovern et al., 2014). Participation in the Meisner activity should increase empathy in partners because observing and commenting on their partner's emotional experience and receiving feedback on these observations should improve their understanding of that experience.

There are several dimensions of empathy that have been found to be associated with different neurobiological systems. The anterior cingulate cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, anterior insula, and amygdala are involved in the affective components of empathy: visceral emotional responses and processing of other's emotions (Coutinho, Silva, & Decety, 2014). The precuneus, medial prefrontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, and temporal parietal junction are also involved in the cognitive components of empathy: reflecting on our own mental states, making inferences about the states of others, and differentiating between others and the self (Coutinho et al., 2014).

This indicates that improving affective and cognitive components of empathy may have neurobiological effects (Coutinho et al., 2014).

Research has also investigated the impact of perceived empathy on relationship satisfaction. Kimmes, Edwards, Wetchler, and Bercik (2014) conducted a study to investigate the relationship between dyadic empathy and relationship satisfaction. Dyadic empathy is the ability for someone to understand and share the experiences of their romantic partner. The researchers found that both perceived dyadic empathy and perceived dyadic empathy congruity (congruity between self and other ratings of empathy) were predictors of relationship satisfaction. Not only is the inner experience of empathy important, but the expression of empathy is as well. Another study found that perception of empathic effort, or the perception that one's partner is motivated to understand them, was strongly related to relationship satisfaction, more so than empathic accuracy (Cohen, Schulz, Weiss, & Waldinger, 2012). These results suggest that it may be more important that partners perceive their significant other as trying to have empathy, rather than their partner having accurate empathy.

Perrone-McGovern et al. (2014) investigated empathy, conflict resolution, and romantic relationship satisfaction. Participants discussed the strengths and weaknesses of their relationship with their partner and completed several self-report measures. The researchers found that individuals with higher empathy reported greater relationship satisfaction compared to individuals with lower empathy toward their partners. These individuals also tended to show greater use of positive problem-solving approaches. The researchers suggest that increasing acceptance, understanding, and empathy may increase relationship satisfaction in couples. Cramer (2003) investigated the extent to which relationship satisfaction is related to negative conflict, demand for approval, self-esteem, unconditional regard, empathy, and congruence. The

level of unconditional regard and empathy were most related to relationship satisfaction. Both of these studies suggest that experiential activities focused on perspective-taking and empathic concern could be one way to increase relationship satisfaction. The Meisner activity may be one activity that increases empathy and perspective taking.

Maintenance of relationship satisfaction has also been investigated. Davis and Oathout (1987) proposed a model of relationship satisfaction that is based on three separate facets of empathy: empathic concern, perspective taking, and personal distress. They found that all three facets predicted partner behavior, which then in turn influenced the other partner's perception of partner warmth, positive outlook, possessiveness, and untrustworthiness. These perceptions then led to increased relationship satisfaction. Therefore, the researchers suggest that satisfaction is not influenced by the partner's actual behavior, but rather by perceptions of the partner's behavior. Their findings suggest that empathy, as well as perspective taking and personal distress, has a strong impact on relationship satisfaction. This model was found to be stronger for longer-term relationships and predicted female behavior slightly better than male behavior.

Not only has empathy been found to be related to relationship satisfaction but research has also found that empathy can be increased through empathy training programs. Teding van Berkhout and Malouff (2016) conducted a meta-analysis analyzing 18 randomized controlled trials of empathy training. Empathy training consists of experiential games, role-play, didactic training, and skills training. They found that overall, empathy-training programs are effective and have a medium effect size. These results indicate that empathy training is effective in increasing empathy. Long, Angera, Carter, Nakamoto, and Kalso (1999) conducted a longitudinal study of the effectiveness of an empathy-training program. The program consisted of a structured, psychoeducational group for couples who wanted to increase their empathy for their partner. Six components of empathy were described and modeled throughout the five twohour sessions. They found that scores on three measures of empathy increased after the training program. In addition, perception of a partner's empathy was related to relationship satisfaction at the six-month follow up, suggesting that empathy is important in relationship satisfaction.

The Meisner activity could be a unique example of empathy training. It is an activity that consists of observing what the other partner is experiencing, commenting on it, and receiving feedback if it is incorrect. Although it is different than many other empathy-training activities, in that it does not involve psychoeducation, role-playing or modeling, it involves the same key components. There are three types of empathy that are generally targeted in training: cognitive, affective and behavioral. Some common training methods are experiential games and role-play, didactic training, and skills training (Teding van Berkhout & Malouff, 2016). The Meisner Technique could be an example of experiential training that would seem to target cognitive, behavioral, and also affective empathy. Perspective-taking and receiving feedback on your cognitions of the other person's experience is the key component of cognitive empathy that the Meisner Technique would target. The Meisner Technique targets affective empathy because it is based on instinctual reactions of the others' affective and emotional experience. Finally, it would target behavioral empathy because it is an active task that involves behaviorally demonstrating empathy and understanding, which is the key component of behavioral empathy. In addition, the Meisner activity will likely increase a partner's feelings that the other person is being empathic since their partner is telling them what they believe they are experiencing. This verbal expression of what their partner is experiencing will likely demonstrate empathy.

I-Sharing

Another reason The Meisner Technique may be beneficial for relationships is through an experience called I-sharing. Pinel, Long, Landau, Alexander, and Pyszczynski (2006) discussed how I-sharing is the degree to which an individual believes that he or she shares an identical subjective experience as another individual. Pinel, Long, Landau, and Pyszcynski (2004) stated that I-sharing occurs when people believe that someone else simultaneously and identically reacts to the same stimulus or event as they themselves are reacting to. Examples of this are when two or more people laugh at the same time after hearing a joke or cry simultaneously in response to the same movie. The Meisner Technique is a unique experience that seems to unify partners, coupling their perceptual experiences. Individuals who have participated in it have expressed amazement at the connection it creates between partners (Meisner et al., 1987). This process may therefore increase I-sharing, leading to increased relationship satisfaction.

Pinel et al. (2006) described three studies that support the hypothesis that I-sharing contributes to liking and feelings of connection above shared similarity. Participants indicated that they liked individuals who were objectively dissimilar to themselves when that individual I-shared with them more than they liked individuals who were objectively similar to themselves. In addition, they found that individuals with high needs for interpersonal closeness were more sensitive to I-sharing information, suggesting that this effect is stronger for people with a high need for intimacy. Shared subjective experiences appear to play an important role in liking and closeness in interpersonal relationships.

Echterhoff, Higgins, and Levine (2009) discussed how as humans we have a need to experience a shared reality with other individuals. They conceptualized a shared reality as having the same inner states, regarding an aspect of the world, as another individual. They proposed that

four conditions are needed to create a shared reality. First, the commonalities between people must be in inner states rather than outward behaviors. Second, there needs to be a specific target (e.g., object or belief) that is the focus of the shared reality. Third, shared underlying motives are equally important as the perceived reality. Fourth, a shared reality can only exist if people connect to each other's inner states. The researchers posit that there are several ways that individuals create a shared reality, including interpersonal communication and awareness of someone's inner state about the target. They discussed how shared reality and empathy are similar because they both involve subjectively experiencing commonalities between internal states. However, shared reality requires that the individuals share views about a specific target while empathy does not. Because of this important distinction, empathy and I-sharing are different mechanisms that both lead to liking. I-sharing is what takes place when people experience a shared reality with others.

I-sharing is inextricably linked to existential isolation: the feeling that occurs when we realize that we can never truly know how another person experiences the world. Pinel et al. (2004) discussed how I-sharing makes us feel existentially connected, which then combats feelings of existential isolation. They described how there are two parts of the self: the "me" and the "I". The "me" is our self-concept and represents what we see when we look in the mirror. The "I" is the part of the self that experiences life and represents the part of us that sees the reflection when looking in the mirror. They described how I-sharing is when people feel as if they are merging with one or more people and that those other individuals are having the same experience as they are in a given moment. These experiences decrease those strong feelings of existential isolation, which then decreases anxiety. In addition, it satisfies our need to know what others are experiencing and increases our feelings of interpersonal connectedness. One study

found that when individuals were primed with memories of past existential isolation they reported increased attraction to an I-sharer (Pinel et al., 2004). I-sharing may therefore increase feelings of connection and satisfaction with one's relationship.

I-sharing and decreased existential isolation may contribute to liking and closeness in the present study. When partners repeat to each other what they are noticing about the other person, it is likely that they will feel a similar subjective experience with that partner. Individuals who have participated in this activity have often expressed that they felt similar emotions and thoughts as their partner expressed. They also frequently demonstrate similar facial expressions and behaviors as each other throughout the activity (Meisner et al., 1987). Pinel et al. (2004) stated that people conclude they are I-sharing when they react the same way as someone else to a stimulus. For example, when two individuals laugh or cry in response to the same event they are I-sharing. Since many individuals have similar perceptual reactions throughout the Meisner Technique, it is possible that they are I-sharing. In addition, individuals tend to have similar reactions to the Meisner Technique as a whole (Meisner et al., 1987). Therefore, it may not only entrain perception but it may also generate I-sharing at this larger level. In addition, feedback would reassure people that their partner understood them and their experience. As discussed earlier, existential isolation is a difficult experience to have and people prefer to keep these feelings at bay (Pinel et al., 2004). I-sharing may be one of the mechanisms for change via the Meisner Technique.

Relationship Satisfaction and Closeness

Relationship satisfaction and closeness are both common ways to assess relationships. They are closely related, but distinct constructs. Relationship closeness is defined as the strength of the emotional bond between people, as well as the degree that each individual knows the other

(Dibble, Levine, & Park, 2012). Relationship satisfaction determines how happy an individual is in a relationship (Hendrick, 1988). Dibble et al. (2012) found that although relationship satisfaction and closeness correlated strongly (r = .73), they appeared to be distinct constructs. Some research studies use one or the other to assess relationships. The present study considers both relationship satisfaction and closeness in order to more extensively investigate the impact of the Meisner Technique on relationships.

Summary

The Meisner Technique was created by Sanford Meisner and is used to help actors live truthfully in the moment. Many award winning actors and actresses have been trained with the Meisner Technique and swear by its success. It involves commenting on a partner's physical and emotional experience and repeating that comment back and forth. It is meant to help actors to focus on the other individual rather than him or herself, stay present, and live truthfully in the moment (Meisner et al., 1987).

The Meisner Technique is similar to exercises in mindfulness. Mindfulness is a state of increased awareness and attention to living in the present moment without judgment or evaluation (Kozlowski, 2013). The Meisner activity is similar to mindfulness in that it has a focus on living in the moment. Mindfulness in relationships improves relationship satisfaction and contributes to overall positive functioning (Carson et al., 2004) and may also impact a number of other interpersonal factors. Although the Meisner Technique is similar to exercises in mindfulness, it has unique elements that could contribute to relationship satisfaction and closeness in ways that mindfulness is unable to. The Meisner activity is an active exercise that engages both partners. Mindfulness requires you to focus internally (on your breath or emotions), which can be very challenging for people. The Meisner Technique is different than mindfulness

because partners are focusing externally and actively commenting on what they notice in the other person. This is likely easier to learn and grow comfortable with compared to some mindfulness activities. In addition, although mindfulness exercises have been found to enhance relationships, the Meisner Technique is specifically geared toward relationships. Other mindfulness interventions have been adapted for relationships, while this one was created for relationships. In that way it may be more beneficial for interpersonal relationships than other mindfulness techniques.

Other ways that the Meisner activity may contribute to relationship satisfaction and closeness are through generation of self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing. Increased self-expansion, empathy and I-sharing are all related to relationship satisfaction and closeness. The Meisner Technique is a novel activity, which will likely increase self-expansion and I-sharing. In addition, it involves paying attention to and understanding a partner's experience which will likely increase empathy.

The Present Study

Mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing, have all been shown to increase relationship closeness and satisfaction. The present study tested if a technique used in theatre, the Meisner Technique, would lead to increased closeness and relationship satisfaction in friendships and romantic partners through the processes stated above. In the current study, participants were randomly assigned to one of two conditions: the Meisner Technique condition or a control condition. In the Meisner Technique condition, participants completed two 20-minutes sessions of the Meisner activity with a friend or romantic partner of their choosing. In the control condition, they completed two sessions of a different joint activity. Participants completed a set

of questionnaires assessing demographic information, mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing prior to the first session and after the second session.

Based on the research literature the following hypotheses were considered:

- Participants in the Meisner Technique condition will report greater increases in relationship satisfaction and closeness compared to participants in the control condition after the completion of the second session.
- Mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing will mediate the relationship between the Meisner Technique and closeness/relationship satisfaction after the completion of the second session.
- 3) At the one-week follow up, participants in the Meisner Technique condition will report greater increases in relationship satisfaction and closeness compared to participants in the control condition.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

The goal of this study was to test whether using the Meisner Technique with pairs of friends and romantic partners increases relationship satisfaction and closeness. In addition, this study investigates the effects of the Meisner Technique on mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing on relationships and the relationship of these constructs with changes in relationship satisfaction and closeness. The methodology to test these research questions is presented in this chapter. This chapter is organized into the following sections: design, participants, materials, procedure, and data analysis plan.

Design

This study used a two-group experimental design. Participants were obtained via a convenience sample of undergraduate psychology students. Participants consisted of pairs of friends and romantic partners. Each pair was randomly assigned to either complete the Meisner activity (the experimental condition) or participate in a word activity together (the control condition). They participated in the activity for two 20-minute sessions two days apart. Prior to the first session and following the second session, participants completed various measures to assess their closeness, relationship satisfaction, mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy and I-sharing.

Participants

Participants were recruited through introductory and upper-level undergraduate psychology courses at Indiana State University and received course credit for their participation (for the "registered" participant/s). They included 110 friends/partners. Of the 110 original participants, 104 also completed the second part of the study and 95 completed the follow up. Of the 110 participants, 69.1% identified as female and 30.9% identified as male. Regarding ethnicity, 54.5% were Caucasian, 33.6% were African American, 7.3% were Latino(a), and 4.5% were biracial. Participants' ages ranged from 18-33 (M= 19.55, SD = 2.32). The participants consisted of 66.4% friends and 32.7% romantic partners. Regarding gender type, 56.4% of participant's partners were the same gender and 43.6% of participant's partners were a different gender. Participant's length of relationship ranged from 1-216 months (M= 29.52, SD = 37.44).

Materials

The Meisner Technique Script

The researcher used the Meisner Technique Script to introduce the Meisner Technique to participants. It instructed participants on basic information regarding the Meisner Technique as well as a step-by-step process of the technique. Although the script was structured, the feedback the researcher provided to the participants during the first step of the process varied. In addition, there were times the researcher needed to adjust the script to meet each pair's needs. There were several prompts that the experimenter provided during the two sessions when the participants engaged in off-task behavior in order to redirect them to the task. To review the full Meisner Technique script and prompts, see Appendix A.

The Meisner Technique Demonstration Video

The researcher showed a three-minute recorded demonstration of the Meisner Technique. The video consisted of the researcher and a trained colleague participating in the Meisner Technique together.

Cover Sheet

A cover sheet that included participant ID number, their assigned condition, a rating of their engagement in the activity, and any comments or concerns the experimenter had was attached to each participant's data. The Measure of Engagement of the activity consists of an observer-rated question assessing the level of engagement the participant displayed during the activity. Items were rated on a five-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 (*low engagement*) to 5 (*high engagement*). To review the full cover sheet, see Appendix B.

Measures

Demographic Questionnaire. The Demographic Questionnaire consists of 9 questions regarding age, race, gender, if their partner was a friend or romantic partner, if their partner was the same or different gender from them, the length of the relationship, how often they saw each other, how important the relationship was, and how willing they were to disclose personal information to their friend/partner. To review the demographic questionnaire, see Appendix C.

Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS). The Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (Brown & Ryan, 2003) consists of 15 self-report items measuring state mindfulness. It measures the presence or absence of awareness and attention to what is happening in the current moment. Items are rated on a six-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*almost always*) to 6 (*almost never*) where high scores reflect more mindfulness. Previous research found strong test-retest reliability and high convergent and discriminate validity. Further, this measurement has been used in other

studies to investigate interpersonal relationships (e.g., Wachs & Cordova, 2007). In the current sample, the MAAS was found to have high internal consistency reliability at both time points (Cronbach's $\alpha = .78$; .84) with an average score of 60.43 (SD = 7.81) at time point one and 59.82 (SD = 7.55) at time point two. To review the full Mindful Attention Awareness Scale, see Appendix D.

Interpersonal Reactivity Index for Couples (IRIC). The Interpersonal Reactivity Index for Couples (Péloquin & Lafontaine, 2010) is a self-report measure composed of 13 items measuring empathy in couples. It measures both cognitive and emotional empathy expressed in a romantic relationship. Items are rated on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (does not describe me well) to 4 (describes me very well). When the measures were used with friends, the items were altered to refer to friendship rather than romantic relationships. The Interpersonal Reactivity Index consists of two subscales: Dyadic Perspective Taking and Dyadic Empathic Concern. The researchers found that the scale had high convergent validity with other measurements of general and dyadic empathy. They also found strong discriminate, concurrent and predictive validity. Finally, the IRIC was found to be moderately correlated with relationship satisfaction, suggesting it is a related but distinct construct. In the current study's sample, the IRIC was found to have high internal consistency reliability at both time points (Cronbach's $\alpha =$.74; .81) with an average score of 51.79 (SD = 5.24) at time point one and 49.67 (SD = 5.91) at time point two. It is important to note that research on the IRIC with friendships has not been conducted. To review the Interpersonal Reactivity Index, see Appendix E.

The Self-Expansion Scale. The Self-Expansion Scale (Lewandowski & Aron, 2002) is a self-report measure composed of 14 items measuring self-expansion in a relationship. Items are rated on a seven-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*not at all*) to 7 (*a great deal*). When the

measure was used with friends, the items were altered to represent friendships rather than romantic relationships. In the current study's sample, the Self-Expansion Scale was found to have high internal consistency reliability at both time points (Cronbach's $\alpha = .94$; .96) with an average score of 4.94 (SD = 1.05) at time point one and 4.78 (SD = 1.27) at time point two. This scale has been used to measure self-expansion in many different research studies. There is no research on using this scale with friendships rather than romantic relationships. To review the Self-Expansion Scale, see Appendix F.

The Existential Isolation Scale (EIS). The Existential Isolation Scale (Pinel, Long, Murdoch, & Helm, 2017) consists of 6 items designed to measure existential isolation. This was used to assess I-sharing since existential isolation is related to I-sharing and there is no measure that directly assesses I-sharing. Items were reversed in order to assess I-sharing. Items are rated on a ten-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (*strongly disagree*) to 9 (*strongly agree*). The scale has two factors: existential isolation and the desire for existential connectedness. Test-retest reliability, as well as convergent and discriminate validity were found to be strong. In the current study's sample, the EIS was found to have high internal consistency reliability at both time points (Cronbach's $\alpha = .81$; .88) with an average score of 5.48 (*SD* = 1.33) at time point one and 4.78 (*SD* = 1.27) at time point two. To review the Existential Isolation Scale, see Appendix G.

The Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale (URCS). The Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale (Dibble et al., 2012) is a 12-item measurement assessing relationship closeness. Items are rated on a seven-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). The reliability and validity of the scale has been assessed with college dating couples, female friends and strangers, friends, and family members. The scale correlated strongly with relationship satisfaction and had high convergent and discriminate

validity. In the current study's sample, the URCS was found to have high internal consistency reliability at all three time points (Cronbach's $\alpha = .96$; .97; .97) with an average score of 5.15 (SD = 1.46) at time point one, 5.07 (SD = 1.60) at time point two and 4.82 (SD = 1.59) at time point three. To review the Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale, see Appendix H.

The Relationship Assessment Scale (RAS). The Relationship Assessment Scale (Hendrick, 1988) is a 7-item measurement assessing relationship satisfaction. Items are rated on a six-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*low satisfaction*) to 5 (*high satisfaction*). The items were revised to refer to friendships rather than romantic relationships when the participants were friends. This scale has been used to measure friendship satisfaction previously (e.g., Morry, 2005; Cramer, 2004; Emmers-Sommer, 2004). They found that it had strong convergent and discriminate validity. In the current study's sample, the RAS was found to have high internal consistency reliability at all three time points (Cronbach's $\alpha = .77$; .74; .84) with an average score of 4.24 (*SD* = .62) at time point one, 4.13 (*SD* = .68) at time point two and 3.93 (*SD* = .89) at time point three. To review the Relationship Assessment Scale, see Appendix I.

Manipulation Check. The manipulation check consists of 10 questions assessing whether participants felt like the activity was pleasant, exciting, novel, stimulating, mindful, and involved empathy, as well as closeness of the relationship. Items are rated on a seven-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 *(Strongly Disagree)* to 7 *(Strongly Agree)*. To review the full manipulation-check, see Appendix J.

Measure of General Relationship Satisfaction. The Measure of General Relationship Satisfaction consists of 4 questions assessing how satisfied participants were with their interactions with others. Items are rated on a five-point Likert Scale ranging from 1 (*low satisfaction*) to 7 (*high satisfaction*). The Measure of General Relationship Satisfaction was found to have high internal consistency reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = .92$) with an average score of 3.50 (*SD* = .81). To review the full measure of general relationship satisfaction, see Appendix K.

Ten-item Personality Inventory. The Ten-Item Personality Inventory (Gosling, Rentfrow, & Swann, 2003) is a 10-item measurement assessing the Big-Five personality dimensions. Items are rated on a seven-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (*disagree strongly*) to 7 (*agree strongly*). As the developers of this short version predicted, internal consistency reliabilities were low reflecting the use of a few items to capture different facets of these broad constructs (which increasing content validity). In the current study, the Cronbach alphas were .70, .25, .50, .60, and .48 for extraversion, agreeableness, contentiousness, emotional stability, and openness to experience, with average scores of 4.59 (SD = 1.17), 4.68 (SD = .87), 5.75 (SD =.89), 4.32 (SD = .94), and 5.58 (SD = .84). Previous research suggests that this scale has been found to have strong convergent validity with other measures of the Big-Five personality traits, strong test-retest reliability, and external validity. To review the full scale, see Appendix L.

Procedure

Participants were asked to participate with a close friend (either the same or opposite sex) or romantic partner and scheduled a time outside of class to participate. Upon arrival at the lab, the researcher provided them with an informed consent document (see Appendix M) that states that participation is optional and that they could withdraw at any time. Participants were then randomly assigned to either the experimental condition or the control condition.

Individuals in both the control and experimental conditions completed several questionnaires prior to starting the dyadic activity (Meisner Technique or word game). Questionnaires included the Demographic Questionnaire, the Mindful Attention Awareness scale, the Interpersonal Reactivity Index for Couples, the Self-Expansion scale, The Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale, the Existential Isolation Scale, the Relationship Assessment Scale, and the Ten-Item Personality Inventory. The experimenter attached a cover sheet with the subject's ID number condition, rating of engagement with a comment section, to the collected data. There was also an experimental record sheet with the participant's ID number and e-mail address that was collected at the first session.

Individuals in the control condition were asked to sit in a chair across from their friend or romantic partner and spend 20 minutes playing a word game. They were asked to role two dice and choose a card with a word on it. They each thought of the number of rhyming words, for the word on the card, based on the number rolled on the dice (e.g., 5 rhyming words if 5 on the dice). They were provided with dice, cards with words on them, paper, and pencils. After the completion of the activity they completed a manipulation check. They were then reminded to come to the second scheduled session in the lab two days later where they repeated this procedure. They were asked to complete the same questionnaires a second time after completion of the second session, as well as the manipulation check. The researcher also completed the ratings of engagement at the end of both of the sessions. At the end of the second session participants received a reminder that they would receive an e-mail asking them to complete a follow-up questionnaire in a week. A week following the second session, they received an e-mail asking them to complete the surveys assessing relationship satisfaction and closeness, as well as a measure assessing general relationship satisfaction. These questionnaires were completed online.

Individuals in the experimental condition were asked to sit in a chair across from their friend or romantic partner. The researcher then explained the Meisner Technique using a script (See Appendix A). She then showed them a short, recorded demonstration of the technique. She

asked them to complete the technique for a brief period of time (i.e., 5-10 minutes) in order for the experimenter to provide feedback on their performance of the Meisner technique. The experimenter had participants start with basic statements (e.g., you are tapping your foot) and move to more complex statements (e.g., you are confused). After they felt comfortable with the technique, the friend/partner dyad were asked to continue using the technique for 20 minutes on their own. During this time, the experimenter did not coach them, however; she did provide specific prompts if necessary due to off-task behavior (See Appendix A). After the completion of the activity, they completed the manipulation check. They were reminded of their second 20minute session using the Meisner Technique, two days later. During the second session, the experimenter did not coach them; however he or she did provide the same prompts provided during the first session. After the second session, participants completed the same survey that the control condition completed. The researcher also completed the ratings of engagement at the end of both of the sessions. At the end of the second session participants received a reminder that they would receive an e-mail asking them to complete a follow up questionnaire in a week. A week following the second session, they received an e-mail asking them to complete the online surveys assessing relationship satisfaction and closeness, as well as a measure assessing general relationship satisfaction. See Table 1 for the temporal sequencing of the measures.

All participants were provided a debriefing in e-mail form (to see the full debriefing form, see Appendix N) after they completed the surveys online a week following the second session. Students in psychology classes were given class credit for participating. In total, the entire procedure required approximately 1.5 hours split between two sessions and the one-week follow up.

Table 1

Temporal Sequencing of the Measures

Pre-session Measures	Following Session 1	Following Session 2	One Week Follow-up
Demographic	The Manipulation	Mindful Attention	The Unidimensional
Questionnaire	Check	Awareness Scale	Relationship
			Closeness Scale
Mindful Attention		Interpersonal	The Relationship
Awareness Scale		Reactivity Index for	Assessment Scale
		Couples	
Interpersonal		The Self-Expansion	Measure of General
Reactivity Index for		Scale	Relationship
Couples			Satisfaction
The Self-Expansion		The Existential	
Scale		Isolation Scale	
The Existential		The Unidimensional	
Isolation Scale		Relationship	
		Closeness Scale	
The Unidimensional		The Relationship	
Relationship		Assessment Scale	
Closeness Scale			
The Relationship		The Manipulation	
Assessment Scale		Check	
Ten-Item Personality			
Inventory			

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

Due to the dyadic nature of the data, intraclass correlation coefficients were conducted on all the measures. As seen in Table 2, couples shared high levels of correspondence on all three dependent measures and some of the hypothetical mediators. Because there was no clear way of distinguishing between partners to control for this non-independence, scores were averaged across partners and each couple was treated as a unit in most analyses.¹

Table 2

Intraclass	Correlation	Coefficients	Between Partners	

	Time 1	Time 2
Dependent Variables		
Closeness	.70*	.84*
Relationship Satisfaction	.46*	.66*
General Relationship Satisfaction	NA ^a	.47*
Mediators		
Mindfulness	.17	08
Self-Expansion	.51*	.69*
I-Sharing	.37*	.18
Empathy	.17	.31*

Potential Moderators		
Extraversion	.04	NA ^a
Agreeableness	.13	NA ^a
Continuousness	.26*	NA ^a
Emotional Stability	06	NA ^a
Openness	.16	NA ^a
Manipulation Checks		I
Manipulation check- Self expansion ^b	.60*	
Manipulation check- Empathy ^b	.49*	
Manipulation check- Mindfulness ^b	.17	

^a Not administered at this time point. ^b The average of time 1 and time 2. * p < .05.

The results are presented in four parts. First, the outcome of the manipulation check is addressed. Next, the effects of the Meisner condition versus the control condition on relationship satisfaction and closeness are examined. Next, the effects of the Meisner condition on mindfulness, empathy, self-expansion, and I-sharing are discussed. The final section consists of additional analyses that examined several potential moderators, including openness, gender, and relationship type. Most analyses were conducted via regression to support the inclusion of multiple covariates. Group means for each of the measures were calculated. See Tables 3, 4 and 5 for specific group means for each variable.

Table 3

Group Means for Time 1

	1.(16
	Mexperimental	$M_{ m control}$
Mindful Attention	60.90 (SD = 8.16)	59.91 (<i>SD</i> = 7.50)
Awareness Scale		
Interpersonal	51.26 (SD = 6.11)	52.38 (<i>SD</i> = 4.08)
Reactivity Index for		
Couples		
The Self-Expansion	5.15 (SD = 1.10)	4.68 (SD = .96)
Scale		
The Existential	5.64 (SD = 1.43)	5.30 (<i>SD</i> = 1.20)
Isolation Scale		
The Unidimensional	5.53 (<i>SD</i> = 1.24)	4.71 (<i>SD</i> = 1.58)
Relationship		
Closeness Scale		
The Relationship	4.41 (SD = .50)	4.05 (SD = .70)
Assessment Scale		
Extraversion	4.68 (<i>SD</i> = 1.27)	4.48 (<i>SD</i> = 1.06)
Agreeableness	4.32 (SD = .86)	5.09 (SD = .68)
Contentiousness	5.81 (SD = .96)	
	``´´´	5.67 (SD = .82)
Emotional Stability	4.38 (<i>SD</i> = 1.01)	4.26 (<i>SD</i> = .87)
Openness	5.47 (<i>SD</i> = .93)	5.69 (<i>SD</i> = .72)

Table 4

Group Means for Time 2

	Mexperimental	$M_{ m control}$
Mindful Attention	60.00 (SD = 8.06)	59.59 (<i>SD</i> = 7.02)
Awareness Scale		
Interpersonal	49.98 (<i>SD</i> = 6.44)	49.28 (<i>SD</i> = 5.29)
Reactivity Index for		
Couples		
The Self-Expansion	5.04 (<i>SD</i> = 1.29)	4.44 (<i>SD</i> = 1.19)
Scale		
The Existential	5.62 (SD = 1.40)	5.30 (<i>SD</i> = 1.21)
Isolation Scale		
The Unidimensional	5.48 (<i>SD</i> = 1.38)	4.56 (<i>SD</i> = 1.73)
Relationship		
Closeness Scale		
The Relationship	4.27 (SD = .59)	3.96 (SD = .76)
Assessment Scale		

Table 5

Group Means for Time 3

	Mexperimental	$M_{ m control}$
The Unidimensional	5.05 (SD = 1.48)	4.53 (<i>SD</i> = 1.72)
Relationship		
Closeness Scale		
The Relationship	4.09(SD = .77)	3.72 (SD = 1.01)
Assessment Scale		
Measure of General	3.49 (SD = .79)	3.52 (SD = .85)
Relationship		
Satisfaction		

Manipulation Check

Immediately after each experimental session, a manipulation check was given containing multiple items pertaining to mindfulness, self-expansion, and empathy. A principle components analysis was conducted to identify the distinct items associated with each dimension. The following items appeared to reflect components of self-expansion: this activity was pleasant, this activity was novel, participating in this activity was exciting, participating in this activity made me see things from a different perspective, and participating in this activity was stimulating. Additionally, empathy seemed reflected in four items: I felt connected with my partner while participating in this activity, I felt understood by my partner while participating in this activity, participating in this activity helped me understand my partner better, and I expect to still have a close relationship to this partner in the future. One question seemed to represent mindfulness: I felt like I was paying attention to the present moment while participating in this activity. Items associated with each component were combined to create composite scores that reflected experiences of mindfulness, self-expansion, and empathy, and these scores were averaged across the two sessions. Means for each group are shown in Table 6. Significant differences between

the control and Meisner groups were observed for mindfulness and self-expansion, but not for empathy. However, the means on the measures were in the opposite direction from what was expected. As seen in the table, participants in the *control group* reported significantly greater mindfulness and self-expansion than those experiencing the Meisner Technique. Those in the control group also reported experiencing slightly (but not significantly) more empathy during the sessions.

Table 6

	Experimental (Meisner)	Control	t (53)
Mindfulness	3.89	4.71	2.58*
Self-Expansion	5.58	6.11	2.04*
Empathy	4.98	5.12	.91

Control and Experimental Differences on Manipulation Check Items

* p<.05

To try to understand these unexpected patterns, dependent sample t-tests were conducted to determine if ratings on the manipulation checks were different during two laboratory sessions. As seen in Tables 7 and 8, there was a significant difference between time one and time two for empathy in the experimental condition, such that individuals reported experiencing less empathy during the second session compared to the first session.

There was also a significant difference between Times 1 and 2 for ratings of engagement in the experimental condition: Participants were perceived as more engaged during the second session compared to the first session although participants in the control group were still rated as more engaged than those in the experimental condition (see Table 7). While this change might be dismissed as a measurement artifact (as there were two experimenters rating engagement in the first session, but only one in the second), it is notable that no such change occurred in the control

condition (See Table 8).

Table 7

Experimental Differences at Each Time Point

	Time 1	Time 2	t (28)
Mindfulness	5.79	5.45	1.86
Self- Expansion	4.19	3.76	1.57
Empathy	5.20	4.78	3.11*
Engagement	4.18	4.39	-2.45*

* p< .05

Table 8

Control Differences at Each Time Point

	Time 1	Time 2	t (22)
Mindfulness	6.35	5.85	1.76
Self- Expansion	4.53	4.56	12
Empathy	5.45	4.92	1.86
Engagement	4.41	4.48	55

* p< .05

Dependent Variables

Two steps were taken to examine the treatment effects on the dependent variables of closeness and relationship satisfaction. First, the various dependent variables (closeness and relationship satisfaction) immediately after treatment were regressed onto a dichotomous "treatment" predictor. Then differences were re-examined controlling for a variety of covariates, including the pre-study measures of closeness or relationship satisfaction, gender of the dyad, and relationship type (friend vs. romantic).

Initial results showed that there was a significant treatment effect on closeness prior to including any covariates, $\beta = .29$, t (50) = 2.12, p < .05; those who experienced the Meisner

condition reported greater closeness (M = 5.48) than those in the control condition (M = 4.56). However, when covariates- including prior levels of closeness, relationship type and gender composition were included- the effect was eliminated, $\beta = .02$, t (47) = .59, p = .56; those who experienced the Meisner condition did not report greater closeness (M = 5.09) than those in the control condition (M = 5.01). The only significant predictor proved to be the prior measure of closeness, $\beta = .90$, t (47) = 15.49, p < .001.

There was not a significant treatment effect on relationship satisfaction in the initial analysis (excluding covariates), $\beta = .23$, t(50) = 1.63, p = .11, reflecting a small difference between control (M = 3.96) and experimental (M = 4.27) groups. There was still no significant effect of treatment on relationship satisfaction when the gender composition, relationship type and the pre-study measure of relationship satisfaction were added, $\beta = -.04$, t(47) = -.55, p = .59. The only significant predictor of relationship satisfaction post-treatment was the pre-treatment measure of relationship satisfaction, $\beta = .90$, t(47) = 11.56, p < .001.

Closeness and relationship satisfaction were also measured at a one-week follow-up. Results showed that there was not a significant treatment effect on closeness at the one week follow-up prior to controlling for the covariates, $\beta = .16$, t (39) = 1.02, p = .31 (this reflects the difference between the control mean of 4.53 and the experimental mean of 5.05). Nor did a treatment effect emerge when the covariates were added, $\beta = -.02$, t (36) = -.46, p = .64; the only significant predictor was the prior measure of closeness, $\beta = .96$, t (36) = 13.24, p < .001.

Similarly, there was no treatment effect on relationship satisfaction at the one week follow-up prior to controlling for covariates, $\beta = .21$, t(39) = 1.35, p = .18 (this reflects the difference between the control mean of 3.72 and the experimental mean of 4.09), nor after

controlling for them, $\beta = -.01$, t(36) = -.08, p = .93; the only significant predictor was the prior measure of relationship satisfaction, $\beta = .83$, t(36) = 9.54, p < .001.

An additional variable, general relationship satisfaction (assessing satisfaction across social relationships) was measured at the one-week follow-up to examine whether treatment effects might have occurred across relationships generally. Analyses showed no significant treatment effect on general relationship satisfaction, $\beta = .01$, t (46) = .03, p = .97; this reflects the difference between the control mean of 3.52 and the experimental mean of 3.49. There was still no treatment effect on general relationship satisfaction when the gender composition, and relationship type were controlled, $\beta = -.01$, t (44) = -.09, p = .93.

Mediators

Although there were no identified effects of the treatment on the dependent variables, it remains possible that the treatment impacted one or more of the hypothesized mediating variables, but that the brevity or intensity of the treatment did not result in the expected transference to impact couples' closeness or relationship satisfaction. Treatment effects on the hypothesized mediators (mindfulness, empathy, self-expansion and I-sharing) were therefore examined despite the absence of effects on the dependent variables. Because pre-study measures of these variables were available, a similar approach as used in the prior analyses was taken. See Table 9 for means prior to controlling for the pre-study measures or covariates. See Table 10 for correlations between the mediators and outcome variables.

Results showed that there was not a significant treatment effect on couple mindfulness prior to controlling for the pre-study measure or covariates, $\beta = .03$, t (50) = .19, p = .85, nor after gender composition, relationship type and pre-study measures were added, $\beta = -.03$, t (47) =

-.32, p = .75. The only significant predictor was the prior measure of mindfulness, $\beta = .84$, t (47) = 10.97, p < .001.

Results showed that there was not a significant treatment effect on couple empathy prior to controlling for the pre-study measure or covariates, $\beta = .06$, t(50) = .42, p = .68. When the gender composition, relationship type and pre-study measures were added there was still no evidence of a significant treatment effect, $\beta = .11$, t(47) = 1.11, p = .27. The only significant predictor was the prior measure of empathy, $\beta = .59$, t(47) = 5.31, p < .001.

Results showed that there was not a significant treatment effect on couple self-expansion prior to controlling for the pre-study measure or covariates, $\beta = .27$, t(50) = .1.93, p = .06. When the gender composition, relationship type and pre-study measures were added there was again not an effect on self-expansion, $\beta = .06$, t(47) = .91, p = .37. The only significant predictor was the prior measure of self-expansion, $\beta = .86$, t(47) = 11.14, p < .001.

Results showed that there was not a significant treatment effect on couple I-sharing prior to controlling for the pre-study measure or covariates, $\beta = .12$, t(50) = .88, p = .38. When the gender composition, relationship type and pre-study measures were added there was again not an effect on I-sharing, $\beta = .002$, t(47) = .02, p = .98. The only significant predictor was the prior measure of I-sharing, $\beta = .70$, t(47) = 8.70, p < .001.

Table 9

	$M_{ m experimental}$	$M_{ m control}$
Mindfulness	60.00	59.59
Empathy	49.98	49.28
Self-expansion	5.04	4.37
I-sharing	5.63	5.30

Means of the Mediators in the Control and Experimental Groups

Table 10

Correlations Between Post-Session Mediators and Post-Session Outcome Variables

	Closeness	Relationship Satisfaction
Mindfulness	.17	.24*
Empathy	.65*	.59*
Self-Expansion	.79*	.83*
I-sharing	.07	.08

* p<.05

Additional Analyses

There exists a potential that certain qualities of the individuals and relationship may have impacted the effects of the treatment on closeness. Several possible moderators of each treatment's effectiveness were examined, including couples' openness, gender, and relationship type. Following approaches of Aiken, West, and Reno (1991) interaction terms were created between each hypothesized moderator and the treatment variable. Results showed that there was not a significant interaction between treatment and openness, $\beta = -.169$, t (47) = -1.28, p = .21,

treatment and gender, $\beta = -.14$, t (47) = -1.11, p = .27, nor treatment and friend vs. romantic relationship type, $\beta = -.11$, t (47) = -.58, p = .56. These results give no evidence to support a claim that the treatment may have worked for some subgroups of the sample.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

The current study sought to contribute to the research literature on techniques that improve interpersonal relationships. Previous research suggests that exercises in mindfulness may be beneficial in improving relationship satisfaction and closeness. In addition, increases in self-expansion, empathy and I-sharing have also been associated with enhanced relationship satisfaction and closeness. A technique used in theatre to improve actor's ability to pay attention to their partner in the current moment, called the Meisner Technique, was examined as a therapeutic tool to improve interpersonal relationships, possibly through one or more of these mediators.

The Meisner Technique has a focus on living in the present moment and being aware of the here-and-now, which was hypothesized to increase mindfulness. In addition, it involves increasing awareness about a partner's experience, as well as undergoing a novel activity, which was predicted to increase self-expansion. It involves recognizing another's emotional experience and receiving feedback about that observation, which was hypothesized to positively affect empathy. Finally, it involves having a shared experience and seeing that experience through a partner's eyes, which was predicted to increase I-sharing. Mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy, and I-sharing have all been found to be related to relationship satisfaction and closeness. Therefore, this study proposed that through these processes, the Meisner activity would increase reports of closeness and relationship satisfaction between friends and romantic partner dyads. Counter to what was hypothesized, results of the current study suggested that the Meisner Technique did not result in increases in relationship satisfaction or closeness in friends and romantic partners. Although initial results suggested a significant difference between closeness in the experimental and control group, further analyses showed that these differences reflected pre-study patterns, rather than effects of the treatment. Results also suggested that there was not a difference between the control and experimental group on any of the potential mediators: mindfulness, empathy, self-expansion, and I-sharing. Further, there was no evidence that the treatment might have been effective for certain subgroups of the sample.

There are several reasons why the study might not have demonstrated treatment effects of the Meisner Technique, including participants feeling uncomfortable by the activity, the frequency of the sessions, the personality of participants, and participants not being motivated to participate. Participants might have been initially uncomfortable by the Meisner activity and may have even avoided paying attention to the present moment (by "tuning out") and therefore, failed to gain benefits of even a short experience. More practice with the activity would likely increase their comfort level, allowing them to achieve the psychological state of mindful attention, as well as potentially allowing more opportunity for the mediators and therefore, the outcomes, to be affected. This was evidenced in observations by the researchers of participants seeming more comfortable during the second session compared to the first session. In addition, ratings of engagement were significantly higher in the second session compared to the first session for participants in the experimental condition. This suggests that an increased number of sessions might have been beneficial. Further, due to time and financial constraints, participants in the current study only participated in two 20-minute sessions. Actors who learn the Meisner Technique usually spend at least several sessions, and frequently months or even years, studying

and practicing it. Therefore, the expected results may not have been found due to too little exposure. Moreover, other interventions targeting the hypothesized mediators (mindfulness, empathy and self-expansion) have also typically consisted of four to ten sessions, suggesting that these may not be changed in just a couple of brief experiences (Carson et al., 2004; Carson et al., 2007; Gambrel & Piercy, 2015; Long et al., 1999; Reissmen et al., 1993; Shapiro et al., 1998).

Another reason why the study may have failed was reliance on a broad sample of college students. On the whole, actors tend to be more comfortable participating in unusual and unique activities compared to the general population. They may be more willing to participate fully in the Meisner activity than the participants in the current study were. The technique may therefore be beneficial, but only for certain types of people. Or, it may require more time for certain individuals, such as those who are less comfortable participating in new activities. In order to explore this, the possibility that the personality trait of openness might predict effectiveness of the treatment was examined. Although there was no evidence of this in the analysis, this might have been due to the small number of participants, which limited the power of the interaction, as well as the averaging across couples, which may have masked effects of openness for individuals. If this study had been conducted with actors rather than college students, or had more participants been involved, a difference between the intervention and control groups might have been found.

Further, participants in the study were not seeking treatment, but rather participating in the activity as a requirement for their classes. Numerous studies suggest that therapeutic interventions work best when participants are motivated (Arkowitz, Miller & Rollnick, 2015); lack of participant motivation for this type of intervention surely would have negatively impacted its apparent effectiveness. For instance, actors are often introduced to the Meisner

Technique as a technique to improve acting performance, but if individuals participating in the Meisner Technique are not motivated to improve their performance or some skill (i.e., attending to a relationship partner), they may not engage fully and experience the benefit. While college students were primarily motivated to earn course credit (which was not dependent on their engagement), couples seeking therapy to improve their relationship would likely be more motivated to engage in the activity. Thus, the Meisner Technique might still prove beneficial for those couples despite the findings here. A measure of motivation to engage in the activity (Meisner or word game) would have been a valuable addition to the current study to explore as a possible moderator.

Related to this, there are several options that could have been used in this study, and that practitioners could use in therapy, to increase motivation for engaging in the activity. First, providing education regarding the intervention might be beneficial. Before therapists do interventions with their clients, they explain the rationale, so that the clients understand why they are being asked to engage in the specified activities. It is likely that this increases "buy in" in the treatment. No such rationale was provided here (to avoid biasing participants' responses) but in retrospect, it might have increased participants' willingness to fully engage in the intervention activities. Another way to increase motivation would be to ask people how they felt about the activity, what the barriers to engagement were, and what would increase their willingness. These types of questions are used in Motivational Interviewing, a therapeutic technique used to increase change and motivation for change (Miller & Rollnick, 2013). Many therapists incorporate Motivational Interviewing into their therapy in order to increase clients' motivations to engage in treatment, and it may have similarly increased participants' engagements with the Meisner Technique in this study, and consequently, its effectiveness. Building rapport and using humor

can also help people feel more comfortable with an intervention and may also increase motivation. The Meisner Technique, in particular, can feel awkward and uncomfortable at first, a feeling that may be exacerbated when someone is watching you. Humor might have been used to diffuse the tension and help participants feel more comfortable. Further, in a real therapeutic intervention, therapists may spend several sessions prior to starting a new technique working on building rapport so that the clients trust them, particularly when the technique is known to generate anxiety. This was not done in the current study due to time constraints, but it is likely that if the participants felt more comfortable with, and trusted the researchers, they would have engaged more. Another option for the study that might have helped the participants feel more comfortable would have been to use a one-way-mirror through which to observe, rather than remaining in the room while they participated in the activity.

One especially surprising result of the study was that the control group reported greater mindfulness and self-expansion than the experimental group in the lab meeting (as evident in results of the manipulation check assessing participants' in-session experiences). This was counter to the prediction that the Meisner Technique would increase mindfulness and selfexpansion. This might have been due to the control group activity playing a word game, which required them to pay constant attention to the "here-and-now." In order to think of words, participants had to focus on the activity-at-hand. In addition, if experimental participants found the Meisner Technique to be aversive, experimental participants may have avoided paying attention to the present moment. This would explain higher mindfulness reports by the control condition participants. Similarly, the word-game (created for this study) may have proven novel enough that it was experienced as self-expanding (particularly relative to an activity that was not ultimately engaged in). Another surprising result was that empathy was rated as lower in the

experimental condition after the second session compared to the first session. If the participants were more engaged (as was found), one would expect them to experience more empathy for their partner. However, this might be due to the fact that participants might have been more focused and engaged on the feedback given to them by their partner during the second session, rather than on their partner's experience. It might require another session, or several more sessions before empathy increased.

Although self-expansion and mindfulness were found to be higher in the control group compared to the experimental group in the manipulation check, the same patterns were not present in the measures of mindfulness and self-expansion in their relationships beyond the lab session. Experimental participants actually reported slightly higher levels of self-expansion than participants in the control condition, although this finding was not significant. Thus, this discrepancy between the two sets of measures (manipulation check versus mediator versions) may be an artifact of the temporal focus of these measures. Nonetheless, they suggest that the technique was not experienced as anticipated (or desired) while in the lab.

Significance

If the results are accurate and the Meisner Technique is not beneficial for relationships, then this is significant for several reasons. First, it is important to examine whether the intervention was not effective because it does not increase mindfulness, self-expansion, I-sharing and empathy, or that the intervention *does* increase these phenomena, but that these processes do not lead to increases in closeness and relationship satisfaction. Whereas the results suggested that there were not increases in those potential mediators, and there is a significant amount of research that suggests that these mediators *do* lead to increases in relationship satisfaction and closeness, the most likely possibility is that the Meisner Technique does not impact these

variables (or that the procedures did not allow for the influence of the Meisner Technique to take place). This is unexpected because actors who have participated in the activity have indicated that it *has* led to increases in paying attention to the present moment, as well as their connection to others. However, subjective reports are different than objective data, and are frequently inaccurate (Nisbett & Wilson, 1977). If the Meisner Technique does not lead to changes in these phenomena, then it is unsurprising that there would be no increases in relationship satisfaction or closeness.

There are a couple reasons why the Meisner Technique might not lead to increases in these variables: mindfulness, empathy, self-expansion and I-sharing. Although it was hypothesized that the Meisner Technique would improve relationship satisfaction and closeness in friends and romantic partners, this was not the original purpose of the technique. Rather, it was designed as an acting technique. It is possible that the Meisner Technique is very effective in improving actor's ability to live in the present moment on stage, but that these effects do not generalize to life off-stage or to outside relationships.

As discussed above, it is also possible that participants did not enjoy the Meisner Technique, especially because they likely felt uncomfortable when they first learned it. Because of this, they may have actively tried to *not* pay attention to the present moment and instead just repeated what their partner said and/or made random inaccurate observations. In addition, if the activity was not enjoyable, that might have suppressed experiences of self-expansion and Isharing. Further, if participants were feeling frustrated by the activity, they might have been preoccupied by their own emotional experiences and therefore, did not experience increased empathy for their partner. One option that might have resulted in greater understanding and engagement in the activity, despite it being uncomfortable, would be to have participants watch

an example, participate in it, and then *teach* it to two other individuals. Incorporating teaching into the activity might have increased their motivation to understand the activity, as well as to engage with it, particularly in the second session, despite not enjoying it initially. Although teaching the Meisner activity would not directly target relationship satisfaction and closeness, it could potentially expand side benefits, which as noted above may take time. This could be something that is examined in future research.

Previous research has suggested that psychodrama leads to increased disinhibition, attitude change, warmth, trust and empathy. Two psychodrama techniques that have been investigated are role reversal and doubling, where the patient and therapist role-played certain social situations (Kipper & Ritchie, 2003). The Meisner Technique seems like an example of psychodrama; however, it is very different than the psychodrama techniques that have been previously researched. It does not consist of role-playing, nor does it directly involve therapist participation (other than teaching the technique). Further, the only outcome that both the previous research and the current study both investigated was empathy. Prior research on psychodrama has targeted disinhibition, attitude change, warmth, and trust—none of which were measured here—and it has not examined the primary measures of relationship satisfaction, closeness, mindfulness, I-sharing or self-expansion, of interest here. Due to these differences, it would be a mistake to take the current results as evidencing a failure of psychodrama techniques in general.

If these results are accurate and the Meisner Technique does not have the effects that were anticipated, then it further reminds us that it is necessary to conduct research on interventions before implementing them. It is far too easy to delude oneself on the basis of anecdotal and subjective reports. It is further important to examine what specific, or non-

specific, factors of interventions create change, as well as the "dose-response" relationship, in order to apply it effectively with clients. Further, there is the potential that the dose may need to vary (as is the case with other types of therapy) based on the client's background and personality. For example, some clients may gain benefits of the Meisner technique faster than other clients do, and therefore they may not need to participate in as many sessions compared to others.

Limitations

There are a number of limitations of the current study. First, several of the measures used were created for romantic relationships and edited to refer to friendships. Some of them have not been tested for use with friendships and may not validly assess the same constructs in these populations. Further, most of the justification for this study was developed from research on romantic relationships, but the majority of participants in the current study were friends (66.4%). It is possible that the Meisner Technique would have led to positive outcomes for romantic partners. The technique may seem more awkward to friends than romantic partners, in part because romantic partners are more willing to be intimate with each other than friends are. There is also the potential that romantic partners would be more motivated to engage in a relationship-building activity with one another than pairs of friends would be.

Another limitation of the study is that the I-sharing measure was a new measure that had not yet been used in many studies, and its validity and reliability is thus unknown. Further, the Isharing measure, as well as the mindfulness measure, assessed I-sharing and mindfulness in general, rather than I-sharing and mindfulness between the two partners in the study. There is a potential that the participants experienced increased I-sharing and mindfulness with their partner specifically, but that this did not generalize to other relationships and therefore, did not "move" the measures. A better measure should be developed for future research. Another limitation that might have impacted the results of the study was that the measure used to assess openness to experiences had poor reliability (Cronbach's alpha = .48). This suggests that the measure for openness might not have accurately reflected each participant's actual level of openness. Future research might use a more reliable measure to better assess the impact of openness on the effectiveness of the Meisner Technique.

Another limitation that might have impacted the results of the study was the choice of control condition. Several control conditions were considered, including having participants play a board game, converse about a topic of their choosing, or complete an artistic activity. The word game that was used was selected for several reasons, including the fact that it was verbal (and thus compared with the experimental activity that was also verbal). In addition, it was expected that the word game would not be engaging or interesting to participants (decreasing the chance of self-expansion to occur); but as noted earlier, participants reported that the control sessions generated greater self-expansion and mindfulness than the experimental sessions. Because this was an initial study, it might have been beneficial to start with a more standard, no-treatment control, rather than a condition that relied on an activity whose effects were unestablished. Perhaps the best option would have been to have control participants engage in an activity that was slightly uncomfortable, since this may have been an aspect of the Meisner Technique that impacted its effectiveness.

Future Research

There are several directions that future research could take to further investigate the potential positive effects of the Meisner Technique on interpersonal relationships. The Meisner Technique could be implemented as part of a couple's intervention over a longer period of time (e.g., 6–10 weeks). Implementing the Meisner Technique as part of a couple's intervention could

have several benefits that might increase its effectiveness. First, the majority of research on the relationship of mindfulness, self-expansion, empathy and I-sharing has been conducted with romantic partners. Therefore, focused study on the impact of the Meisner Technique on couples might yield evidence of the technique's impact. Second, couples seeking services may have greater motivation to engage in the practice, so implementing it as part of an intervention with couples in distress may also demonstrate its value (though this also introduces greater risk). Finally, implementing the technique as part of a treatment over a longer time period would also allow the therapist more time and flexibility to incorporate motivational interviewing techniques and build rapport with the clients in order to increase their motivation and provide opportunity for the participants to become comfortable with the activity. The longer time period would also give greater chance for a measurable change to take place.

Future research could examine additional factors that might moderate the treatment effectiveness. For instance, a self-report measure of participants' comfort or interest in the treatment could be included to address some of the motivational concerns raised as explanations for the null effects of the current study. Future research might also assess participants' selfmonitoring. Actors tend to have a greater ability to change their behavior according to the situation they are experiencing, like high self-monitors. Thus, it may be that high self-monitors would similarly have an easier time participating in (and benefiting from) the Meisner activity.

In general, although the current study did not find positive results of the Meisner Technique, future research could address some of the limitations that likely impacted its effectiveness. If these limitations were addressed, there is the potential that the Meisner Technique could be found to be beneficial for some romantic relationships.

Conclusion

The hypotheses that the Meisner Technique would lead to increased relationship satisfaction and closeness through increases in self-expansion, empathy, I-sharing, and mindfulness, were not supported. Results suggested that the Meisner Technique does not lead to increases in these phenomena. There are several reasons why this might be the case, including the limited intensity and brevity of the intervention, the nature of the sample studied, and the motivation of the participants. Future research could investigate a 6–10 week intervention with couples in order to better assess the effects of the Meisner Technique. Although the Meisner Technique has not been demonstrated to be effective for enhancing relationships, considerable research suggests that interventions that enhance mindfulness, empathy, I-sharing, and selfexpansion will bring couples closer and increase relationship satisfaction. While there is considerable anecdotal support suggesting that a Meisner-based treatment should affect these things, further research is warranted.

Footnotes

¹In addition, main analyses were also conducted with individual-level data following procedures designed by Kenny, Sashy and Cook (2006), to control for non-independence between partners. These analyses showed identical patterns of effects/significance and are therefore, not reported.

REFERENCES

- About Sanford Meisner. (2001). Retrieved September 21, 2016, from http://www.pbs.org/wnet/americanmasters/sanford-meisner-about-sanford-meisner/660/
- Aiken, L.S., West, S.G., & Reno, R.R. (1991). Multiple Regression: Testing and Interpreting Interactions. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications Inc.
- Arkowitz, H., Miller, W.R., & Rollnick, S. (2015). *Motivational Interviewing in the Treatment of Psychological Problems, Second Edition*. New York: Guilford Publications.
- Aron, A., & Aron, E. N. (1986) Love and the expansion of the self: Understanding attraction and satisfaction. New York, NY: Hemisphere Publishing Co/Harper & Row Publishers.
 book Citation, Database: PsycINFO References
- Aron, A., & Aron, E. N. (1996). Self and self-expansion in relationships. In G. O. Fletcher, J.
 Fitness, G. O. Fletcher, J. Fitness (Eds.), *Knowledge structures in close relationships: A social psychological approach* (pp. 325–344). Hillsdale, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum
 Associates, Inc.
- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., Tudor, M., & Nelson, G. (1991). Close relationships as including other in the self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *60*, 241–253. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.60.2.241

 Aron, A., Norman, C. C., Aron, E. N., McKenna, C., & Heyman, R. E. (2000). Couples' shared participation in novel and arousing activities and experienced relationship quality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 273–284. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.78.2.273

- Aron, A., Paris, M., & Aron, E.N. (1995). Falling in love: Prospective studies of self-concept change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69, 1102–1112, doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.69.6.1102
- Atkinson, B. J. (2013). Mindfulness training and the cultivation of secure, satisfying couple relationships. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, 2, 73–94. doi:10.1037/cfp
- Barnes, S., Brown, K. W., Krusemark, E., Campbell, W. K., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). The role of mindfulness in romantic relationship satisfaction and responses to relationship stress. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 33, 482–500. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00033.x
- Block-Lerner, J., Adair, C., Plumb, J. C., Rhatigan, D. L., & Orsillo, S. M. (2007). The case for mindfulness-based approaches in the cultivation of empathy: Does nonjudgmental, present-moment awareness increase capacity for perspective-taking and empathic concern? *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *33*, 501–516. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00034.x
- Block-Lerner, J., Orsillo, S. M., & Plumb, J. C. (2004). Various ways of approaching emotional events: The effects of mindful awareness, positive thinking, and relaxation preparations. In L. Roemer (Chair), The role of emotion in anxiety disorders and intervention strategies: Experimental investigations of emotional processes.
 Symposium conducted at the annual meeting of the Association for Advancement of Behavior Therapy, New Orleans, LA.

Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in

psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *84*, 822–848. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.84.4.8220000002

- Burgoon, J. K., Berger, C. R., & Waldron, V. R. (2000). Mindfulness and interpersonal communication. *Journal of Social Issues*, *56*, 105–127. doi:10.1111/0022-4537.00154
- Carson, J. W., Carson, K. M., Gil, K. M., & Baucom, D. H. (2004). Mindfulness-based relationship enhancement. *Behavior Therapy*, 35, 471–494. doi:10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80028-5
- Carson, J. W., Carson, K. M., Gil, K. M., & Baucom, D. H. (2007). Self-expansion as a mediator of relationship improvements in a mindfulness intervention. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 33, 517–528. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00035.x
- Cohen, S., Schulz, M. S., Weiss, E., & Waldinger, R. J. (2012). Eye of the beholder: The individual and dyadic contributions of empathic accuracy and perceived empathic effort to relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *26*, 236–245. doi:10.1037/a0027488
- Coutinho, J. F., Silva, P. O., & Decety, J. (2014). Neurosciences, empathy, and healthy interpersonal relationships: Recent findings and implications for counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *61*, 541–548. doi:10.1037/cou0000021
- Cramer, D. (2003). Facilitativeness, conflict, demand for approval, self-esteem, and satisfaction with romantic relationships. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *137*, 85–98. doi:10.1080/00223980309600601
- Cramer, D. (2004). Effect of the destructive disagreement belief on relationship satisfaction with a romantic partner or closest friend. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, and Practice, 77,* 121–133.

- Davis, M. H., & Oathout, H. A. (1987). Maintenance of satisfaction in romantic relationships:
 Empathy and relational competence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53, 397–410. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.53.2.397
- Dekeyser, M., Raes, F., Leijssen, M., Leysen, S., & Dewulf, D. (2008). Mindfulness skills and interpersonal behavior. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 44, 1235–1245. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2007.11.018
- Dibble, J. L., Levine, T. R., & Park, H. S. (2012). The Unidimensional Relationship Closeness Scale (URCS): Reliability and validity evidence for a new measure of relationship closeness. *Psychological Assessment*, 24, 565–572. doi:10.1037/a0026265
- Echterhoff, G., Higgins, E. T., & Levine, J. M. (2009). Shared reality: Experiencing commonality with others' inner states about the world. *Perspectives On Psychological Science*, 4(5), 496–521. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6924.2009.01161.x
- Emmers-Sommer, T. M. (2004). The effect of communication quality and quantity indicators on intimacy and relational satisfaction. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 21, 399–411.
- Gambrel, L. E., & Piercy, F. P. (2015). Mindfulness-based relationship education for couples expecting their first child - Part 2: Phenomenological findings. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 41, 25–41. doi:10.1111/jmft.12065
- Gosling, S. D., Rentfrow, P. J., & Swann, W. J. (2003). A very brief measure of the Big-Five personality domains. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *37*, 504–528.
 doi:10.1016/S0092-6566(03)00046-1
- Hendrick, S. S. (1988). A generic measure of relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Marriage and The Family*, *50*, 93–98. doi:10.2307/352430

- Hendrix, H., Hunt, H. L., Luquet, W., & Carlson, J. (2015). Using the imago dialogue to deepen couples therapy. *The Journal of Individual Psychology*, *71*, 253–272. doi:10.1353/jip.2015.0029
- Horowitz, L. M., Rosenberg, S. E., & Bartholomew, K. (1993). Interpersonal problems, attachment styles, and outcome in brief dynamic psychotherapy. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 61, 549–560. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.61.4.549
- Jackson-Dwyer, D. (2014). *Interpersonal relationships*. New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Kenny, D.A., Kashy, D.A., & Cook, W.L. (2006). Methodology in the Social Sciences (David A. Kenny, Series Editor). Dyadic data analysis. New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.
- Kimmes, J. G., Edwards, A. B., Wetchler, J. L., & Bercik, J. (2014). Self and other ratings of dyadic empathy as predictors of relationship satisfaction. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 42, 426–437. doi:10.1080/01926187.2014.925374
- Kindler, R. C., & Gray, A. A. (2010). Theater and therapy: How improvisation informs the analytic hour. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry*, *30*, 254–266. doi:10.1080/07351690903206223
- King, S. (2014). Diane Keaton on acting, aging, Michael Douglas, Woody Allen and more. Retrieved September 21, 2016, from http://www.latimes.com/entertainment/movies/la-et-mn-diane-keaton-20140726story.html
- Kipper, D. A., & Ritchie, T. D. (2003). The effectiveness of psychodramatic techniques: A metaanalysis. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 7, 13–25. doi:10.1037/1089-2699.7.1.13

Kozlowski, A. (2013). Mindful mating: Exploring the connection between mindfulness

and relationship satisfaction. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *28*, 92–104. doi:10.1080/14681994.2012.748889

- Kramer, G. (2007). *Insight dialogue: The interpersonal path to freedom*. Boston, MA, US: Shambhala Publications.
- Laurent, H. K., Hertz, R., Nelson, B., & Laurent, S. M. (2016). Mindfulness during romantic conflict moderates the impact of negative partner behaviors on cortisol responses. *Hormones and Behavior*, 7945–7951. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.01.005
- Lewandowski, G. W., Jr., & Aron, A. (2002). The self-expansion scale: Construction and validation. Paper presented at the Third Annual Meeting of the Society of Personality and Social Psychology, Savannah, GA.
- Long, E. J., Angera, J. J., Carter, S. J., Nakamoto, M., & Kalso, M. (1999). Understanding the one you love: A longitudinal assessment of an empathy training program for couples in romantic relationships. *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal Of Applied Family Studies*, 48, 235–242. doi:10.2307/585632
- Mattingly, B. A., & Lewandowski, G. J. (2014). Broadening horizons: Self-expansion in relational and non-relational contexts. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 8, 30–40. doi:10.1111/spc3.12080
- Meisner, S., Longwell, D., & Pollack, S. (1987). *Sanford Meisner on acting*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2013). Motivational interviewing: Helping people change. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

 Morry, M. M. (2005). Allocentrism and Friendship Satisfaction: The Mediating Roles of Disclosure and Closeness. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement*, 37, 211–222. doi:10.1037/h0087258

Nanda, J. (2013). Mindful relationships. *Sexual And Relationship Therapy*, 28(1-2), 120–131. doi:10.1080/14681994.2012.758838

Nisbett, R. E., & Wilson, T. D. (1977). Telling more than we can know: Verbal reports on mental processes. *Psychological Review*, 84, 231–259. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.84.3.231

- Péloquin, K., & Lafontaine, M. (2010). Measuring empathy in couples: Validity and reliability of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index for Couples. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 92, 146–157. doi:10.1080/00223890903510399
- Perrone-McGovern, K. M., Oliveira-Silva, P., Simon-Dack, S., Lefdahl-Davis, E., Adams, D.,
 McConnell, J., & ... Gonçalves, Ó. F. (2014). Effects of empathy and conflict resolution strategies on psychophysiological arousal and satisfaction in romantic relationships. *Applied Psychophysiology And Biofeedback*, 39, 19–25. doi:10.1007/s10484-013-9237-2
- Pinel, E. C., Long, A. E., Landau, M. J., & Pyszczynski, T. (2004). I-Sharing, the Problem of Existential Isolation, and Their Implications for Interpersonal and Intergroup
 Phenomena. In J. Greenberg, S. L. Koole, T. Pyszczynski, J. Greenberg, S. L. Koole, T.
 Pyszczynski (Eds.) , *Handbook of Experimental Existential Psychology* (pp. 352–368).
 New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.

Pinel, E. C., Long, A. E., Landau, M. J., Alexander, K., & Pyszczynski, T. (2006).

Seeing I to I: A pathway to interpersonal connectedness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *90*, 243–257. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.90.2.243

- Pinel, E. C., Long, A. E., Murdoch, E. Q., & Helm, P. (2017). A prisoner of one's own mind: Identifying and understanding existential isolation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 105, 54–63.
- Reissman, C., Aron, A., & Bergen, M. R. (1993). Shared activities and marital satisfaction:
 Causal direction and self-expansion versus boredom. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *10*, 243–254. doi:10.1177/026540759301000205
- Shapiro, S. L., Schwartz, G. E., & Bonner, G. (1998). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on medical and premedical students. Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 21, 581–599.
- Sheets, V. L. (2014). Passion for life: Self-expansion and passionate love across the life span.
 Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, *31*, 958–974.
 doi:10.1177/0265407513515618
- Teding van Berkhout, E., & Malouff, J. M. (2016). The efficacy of empathy training: A metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *63*, 32–41. doi:10.1037/cou0000093
- Van Doesum, N. J., Van Lange, D. W., & Van Lange, P. M. (2013). Social mindfulness: Skill and will to navigate the social world. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *105*, 86–103. doi:10.1037/a0032540
- Wachs, K., & Cordova, J. V. (2007). Mindful relating: Exploring mindfulness and emotion repertoires in intimate relationships. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, *33*, 464– 481. doi:10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00032.x

Wenzel, A., & Harvey, J. (2001). Introduction: The movement toward studying the maintenance and enhancement of close romantic relationships. In J. Harvey & A. Wenzel (Eds.), Close romantic relationships: Maintenance and enhancement (pp. 1–10). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

APPENDIX A: THE MEISNER TECHNIQUE SCRIPT

Hello, today and tomorrow you will be participating in an activity with your friend. At the beginning, the activity may seem confusing or strange. This is a normal reaction. Please do your best to fully participate even if it feels uncomfortable at times. I will help you at the beginning until you both feel comfortable participating with each other. Throughout the activity you will be sitting across from your friend and making eye contact. I am going to ask you to make a statement about something you notice about your partner. To start these will be physical observations such as "you are moving your arm." Your partner will repeat that observation "I am moving my arm."

Before we begin I am going to show you a short, recorded demonstration and you will have a chance to ask any questions. (Play video)

Do you have any questions? (Pause for questions)

Okay, lets try an example. (Ask one participant) Can you make an observation about your partner? (Coach them if they have difficulty) Now I would like you to repeat that observation back and forth.

So, what I would like you to do is continue to repeat that observation until one of you notices a change in your partner. For example if you notice that your partner rolls his eyes state "you rolled your eyes" Once a new observation is made that will be repeated.

Do you have any questions? (Pause for questions)

Okay, lets try this for a while. (Have them complete this part of the activity until they seem comfortable. Coach them if they have difficulty.)

So now I would like you to start making observations about the emotional experience of your partner. For example, if your partner seems annoyed you can say "You are annoyed" and this will be repeated. This is the same as the physical observations you made about your partner; however, it is focused on their emotional experience.

Do you have any questions? (Pause for question)

Lets try this for a while (Have them complete this part of the activity until they seem comfortable. Coach them if they have difficulty)

Good job. Okay, so now you are going to do exactly that until I tell you to stop. Go with your gut instinct. If you do not know what to say just repeat the previous observation. Do not feel like you need to make a new observation. Only make an observation if you notice something new. It is important that you continue to participate in the activity until I ask you to stop. Do you have any questions before we begin?

You may begin.

Prompts

If participants stop speaking: "Please continue. If you can't think of anything new to say just repeat."

If participants start having an unrelated conversation: "Please continue to make observations and repeat until I tell you to stop."

Any other off-task behavior: "You still have some time left in the task. Please continue to make observations and repeat until I tell you to stop.

APPENDIX B: COVER SHEET

ID Number:				
Condition:				
Day 1 Engagement:				
l low engagement	2	3	4	5 high engagement
1) How engaged w	vas the participant	in the activity?		
Day 2 Engagement:				
1 low engagement	2	3	4	5 high engagement

_____1) How engaged was the participant in the activity?

Day 1 comments:

Day 2 comments:

APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE

- 1. What is your age? _____
- 2. What is your race/ethnicity?
 - a. Caucasian

- e. Biracial
- b. African American f. Other
- c. Latino(a)
- d. Asian
- 3. What is your gender?
 - a. Female
 - b. Male
 - c. Other
- 4. Are you participating with a friend or romantic partner?
 - a. Friend
 - b. Romantic partner
- 5. Is your friend or romantic partner the same or different gender than you are?
 - a. Same
 - b. Different
- 6. How long have you been with your friend/partner?
- 7. How often do you see your friend/partner?
 - a. Every day
 - b. Every week
 - c. Every couple of weeks
- 8. How willing are you to disclose personal information to your friend/partner?

1	2	3	4	5
Not Willing				Very Willing

9. How important is your friendship/relationship to you?

12345Not importantVery Important

APPENDIX D: MINDFUL ATTENTION AWARENESS SCALE

Using the 1–6 scale below, please indicate how frequently or infrequently you currently have each experience. Please answer according to what *really reflects* your experience rather than what you think your experience should be.

Use the following scale:

1	2	3	4	5	6
Almost	Very	Somewhat	Somewhat	Very	Almost
Always	Frequently	Frequently	Infrequently	Infrequently	Never

1. _____ I could be experiencing some emotion and not be conscious of it until some time later.

2. _____ I break or spill things because of carelessness, not paying attention, or thinking of something else.

3. I find it difficult to stay focused on what's happening in the present.

4. _____ I tend to walk quickly to get where I'm going without paying attention to what I experience along the way.

5. _____ I tend not to notice feelings of physical tension or discomfort until they really grab my attention.

6. _____ I forget a person's name almost as soon as I've been told it for the first time.

7. _____ It seems I am "running on automatic" without much awareness of what I'm doing.

8. _____ I rush through activities without being really attentive to them.

9. _____ I get so focused on the goal I want to achieve that I lose touch with what I am doing right now to get there.

10. _____ I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing.

11. _____ I find myself listening to someone with one ear, doing something else at the same time.

- 13. _____I find myself preoccupied with the future or the past.
- 14. _____ I find myself doing things without paying attention.
- 15. _____ I snack without being aware that I'm eating

APPENDIX E: INTERPERSONAL REACTIVITY INDEX

The following statements inquire about your thoughts and feelings in a variety of situations occurring in your friendship or romantic relationship. For each item, indicate how well it describes you by writing the appropriate number. Please write the name of your partner here

Use the following scale:

0	1	2	3	4
Does not describe				Describes me
me well				very well

1. _____ I often have tender, concerned feelings for my partner when he/she is less fortunate than me.

2. _____ Sometimes I don't feel very sorry for my partner when he/she is having problems.

3. _____ I try to look at my partner's side of a disagreement before I make a decision.

4. _____ When I see my partner being taken advantage of, I feel kind of protective toward him/her.

5. _____ I sometimes try to understand my partner better by imagining how things look from his/her perspective.

6. _____ My partner's misfortunes do not usually disturb me a great deal.

7. _____ If I'm sure I'm right about something, I don't waste much time listening to my partner's arguments.

8. _____ When I see my partner being treated unfairly, I sometimes don't feel very much pity for him/her.

9. _____ I am often quite touched by things I see happen in my relationship.

10. _____ In my relationship, I believe that there are two sides to every question and try to look at them both.

11. _____ In my relationship, I would describe myself as a pretty soft-hearted person.

12. _____ When I'm upset at my partner, I usually try to "put myself in his/her shoes" for a while.

13. _____Before criticizing my partner, I try to imagine how I would feel if I were in his/her place.

APPENDIX F: THE SELF-EXPANSION SCALE

INSTRUCTIONS: Answer each question according to the way you personally feel, using the following scale. Please place your answer in the space next to each item.

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Not Very
 Very

 Much
 Much

1) How much does being with your partner result in your having new experiences?

2) When you are with your partner, do you feel a greater awareness of things because of him or her?

3) How much does your partner increase your ability to accomplish new things?

4) How much does being with your partner make you more appealing to potential future partners?

5) How much does your partner help to expand your sense of the kind of person you are?

6) How much do you see your partner as a way to expand your own capabilities?

7) Do you often learn new things about your partner?

8) How much does your partner provide a source of exciting experiences?

9) How much do your partner's strengths as a person (skills, abilities, etc.) compensate for some of your own weaknesses as a person?

10) How much do you feel that you have a larger perspective on things because of your partner?

_____11) How much has being with your partner resulted in your learning new things?

12) How much has knowing your partner made you a better person?

_____13) How much does being with your partner increase the respect other people have for you?

_____14) How much does your partner increase your knowledge?

APPENDIX G: EXISTENTIAL ISOLATION SCALE

Please rate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements:

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
strongly								S	trongly
disagree									agree

1) I usually feel like people share my outlook on life.

2) I often have the same reactions to things that other people around me do.

- 3) People around me tend to react to things in our environment the same way I do.
- 4) People do <u>not</u> often share my perspective.
- 5) Other people usually do <u>not</u> understand my experiences.
 - 6) People often have the same "take" or perspective on things that I do.

APPENDIX H: THE UNIDEMENSIONAL RELATIONSHIP CLOSENESS SCALE

Instructions: The following questions refer to your relationship with your friend or romantic partner. Please think about your relationship with your partner when responding to the following questions. Please respond to the following statements using this scale:

Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Agree

- 1. _____ My relationship with my partner is close.
- 2. _____ When we are apart, I miss my partner a great deal.
- 3. _____ My partner and I disclose important personal things to each other.
- 4. _____ My partner and I have a strong connection.
- 5. _____ My partner and I want to spend time together.
- 6. _____ I'm not sure of my relationship with my partner.
- 7. _____ My partner is a priority in my life.
- 8. _____ My partner and I do a lot of things together.
- 9. _____ When I have free time I choose to spend it alone with my partner.
- 10. _____ I think about my partner a lot.
- 11. _____ My relationship with my partner is important in my life.
- 12. _____ I consider my partner when making important decisions.

APPENDIX I: RELATIONSHIP ASSESSMENT SCALE

1 Very L	2 .ittle	3	4	5 A Great Deal
	1) How well does you	ur partner meet yo	ur needs?	
	2) In general, how sa	tisfied are you with	h your relationshij	p?
	_3) How good is your	relationship comp	ared to most?	
	4) How often do you	wish you hadn't g	otten into this rela	tionship?
	5) To what extent has	s your relationship	met your original	expectations?
	_ 6) How much do you	love your partner	?	
	7) How many problem	ms are there in you	r relationship?	

APPENDIX J: MANIPULATION CHECK

Instructions: The following questions refer to how you viewed the activity you just participated in. Please rate the questions on the scale provided below.

Strongly Disagree 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Strongly Agree

- 1. _____ This activity was pleasant.
- 2. _____ This activity was novel.
- 3. _____ Participating in this activity was exciting.
- 4. _____ Participating in this activity made me see things from a different perspective.
- 5. _____ I felt connected with my partner while participating in this activity.
- 6. _____ Participating in this activity was stimulating.
- 7. _____ I felt understood by my partner while participating in this activity.

8. _____ I felt like I was paying attention to the present moment while participating in this activity.

- 9. _____ Participating in this activity helped me understand my partner better.
- 10._____ I expect to still have a close relationship to this partner in the future.

APPENDIX K: MEASURE OF GENERAL RELATIONSHIP SATISFACTION

12345Strongly DisagreeStrongly Agree

1. _____ I felt satisfied with my interactions with others this week.

2. _____ I felt connected to others during my interactions this week.

- 3. _____ I felt engaged during interactions with others this week.
- 4. _____ I felt like my interactions with others met my needs this week.

APPENDIX L: TEN-ITEM PERSONALITY INVENTORY

Here are a number of personality traits that may or may not apply to you. Please write a number next to each statement to indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with that statement. You should rate the extent to which the pair of traits applies to you, even if one characteristic applies more strongly than the other.

0	Disagree moderately	Disagree a little	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree a little	Agree moderately	Agree strongly
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

I see myself as:

- 1. _____ Extraverted, enthusiastic.
- 2. ____ Critical, quarrelsome.
- 3. ____ Dependable, self-disciplined.
- 4. _____ Anxious, easily upset.
- 5. ____ Open to new experiences, complex.
- 6. _____ Reserved, quiet.
- 7. _____ Sympathetic, warm.
- 8. ____ Disorganized, careless.
- 9. ____ Calm, emotionally stable.
- 10. _____ Conventional, uncreative.

APPENDIX M: INFORMED CONSENT

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

The Effects of a Relationship Building Activity on Interpersonal Relationships

You are asked to participate in a research study conducted by Rachel Magin, M.S. in association with Dr. Virgil Sheets from the Psychology Department at Indiana State University as part of a graduate student project. Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary. Please read the information below and ask questions about anything you do not understand, before deciding whether or not to participate.

You have been asked to participate in this study because you are an 18-years or older and are able to participate with a friend or romantic partner. Approximately 120 people will participate in this study. The only requirement to participate is that you are 18 years or older and are willing to participate with a friend or romantic partner.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

This study will examine the effects of a relationship building activity on interpersonal relationships.

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study you will be asked to do the following things:

You will first complete some demographic and background questions. You will then participate in one of two activities for 20 minutes with the friend or romantic partner of your choosing. You are being asked to return to complete a second session of the same activity for 20 minutes in two days. Following this, you will complete several questionnaires about your experience as well as some questionnaires your relationship again. Finally, a week after your lab session, you will be e-mailed a link to a follow-up survey about how your relationships are going. Your participation is expected to require approximately one and a half hours in total.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

There is a risk that you may experience some boredom or discomfort from the activities you are assigned to do; however, this is expected to dissipate with greater engagement in the session or when the session ends.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS FOR SUBJECTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

While you may not benefit directly from your participation, the knowledge of whether/how your involvement affects your relationship will benefit psychologists who work with groups/couples to address relationship problems.

PAYMENT FOR PARTICIPATION

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You will not receive any payment for your involvement, nor will your participation cost you anything.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law. Your e-mail and name will need to be provided in order for you to receive the follow-up questionnaire. However, you will be assigned a code number that will be recorded on all your questionnaires from this study. To protect your confidentiality, the list of IDs and names will be destroyed after data have been collected and entered in the computer. Your data will be combined with that of others for analysis so that your individual responses will be identifiable.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

You can choose whether or not to be in this study. You may quit the study at any time simply by informing the experimenter of your desire to do so. If you choose to withdraw, your research materials will be destroyed. Quitting the study will not result in any penalty to you except the loss of this research opportunity and potential to participate in the follow-ups.

Note that even if you agree to participate, you may skip any questions or procedures that you do not wish to complete, and participating today does not obligate you to participate in the next session or in the follow-up survey.

If you are a student in a psychology course, your participation will be recorded in SONA. You can earn up to 12 SONA credits for your involvement: 4 for today, 4 for the next session, and 4 for doing the follow-up survey). You should see your instructor's syllabus for information in how these are converted for credit in any given class, and for the list of alternate possibilities for earning this credit.

IDENTIFICATION OF INVESTIGATORS

If you have any questions or concerns about this research, please contact Ms. Rachel Magin (via email: <u>rmagin@sycamores.indstate.edu</u>; or via phone: 860-331-1800).

or Dr. Virgil Sheets (in person: Root Hall: B-205; via email: <u>Virgil.Sheets@indstate.edu</u>; or via phone:812-237-2451).

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH SUBJECTS

If you have any questions about your rights as a research subject, you may contact the Indiana State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) by mail at Indiana State University, Office of Sponsored Programs, Terre Haute, IN 47809, by phone at (812) 237-8217, or e-mail the IRB at irb@indstate.edu. You will be given the opportunity to discuss any questions about your rights as a research subject with a member of the IRB. The IRB is an independent committee composed of members of the University community, as well as lay members of the community not connected with ISU. The IRB has reviewed and approved this study.

I understand the procedures described above. My questions have been answered to my satisfaction, and I agree to participate in this study. I have been given a copy of this form.

Printed Name of Subject

Signature of Subject

Date